
SEWARD PENINSULA 
Subsistence  

Regional Advisory Council
Meeting Materials
October 7-8, 2014

Nome



What’s Inside
Page

1 Agenda

3 Roster

4 Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes

16 805(c) Report

23 FSB Annual Report Reply

30 C&T/ANILCA Section 804 Comparison Table

31 Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal

38 Rural Review Briefing for the Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory  Councils

40 Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

59 FRMP Briefing

62 Priority Information Needs 2016 

71 FP15-01 Barbless Hooks Statewide 

76 FP15-02 Providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C

87 FP15-03 Eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River      
Subdistrict 5C

100 FP15-03 Appendix A

107 FP15-04 Allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon 
in Yukon River drainage when drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed

120 Annual Report Briefing

122 RAC Nominations Briefing

128 WIRAC Letters on Late Appointments

134 Winter 2015 Meeting Calendar

135 Fall 2015 Meeting Calendar

136 Seward Peninsula Council Charter

On the cover... 
Rows of salmon are hung in preparation for drying. 
Photo courtesy:  Dr. Palma Ingles, USFWS.



1Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Agenda

DRAFT

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Aurora Inn, Nome
October 7-8, 2014
11 a.m. on Oct. 7
9 a.m. on Oct. 8

AGENDA 

*Asterisk identifi es action item.

Roll Call and Establish Quorum (Secretary) ............................................................................................. 3

Call to Order (Chair) 

Welcome and Introductions (Chair) 

Review and Adopt Agenda* (Chair)  ......................................................................................................... 1

Review and Approve Previous Meeting Minutes* (Chair) ...................................................................... 4

Reports 

Council member reports

805(c) Report ..................................................................................................................................16

FSB Annual Report Reply ..............................................................................................................23

Chair’s report 

Public and Tribal Comment on Non-Agenda Items (available each morning)

Old Business (Chair)

Customary & Traditional Use Determination – Update (Pippa Kenner/David Jenkins) ................... 30 
Rural Determination Process Review – Update (OSM) ..................................................................... 38

New Business (Chair) 

Priority Information Needs for FRMP* (Karen Hyer/Trent Liebich) .............................................62

Fisheries Regulatory Proposal* (Fisheries)

PUBLIC COMMENTS: Public comments are welcome for each agenda item and for 
regional concerns not included on the agenda. The Council appreciates hearing your 
concerns and knowledge. Please fi ll out a comment form to be recognized by the 
Council chair. Time limits may be set to provide opportunity for all to testify and 
keep the meeting on schedule.

PLEASE NOTE: These are estimated times and the agenda is subject to change. 
Contact staff for the current schedule. Evening sessions are at the call of the chair.



2 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Agenda

DRAFT
 Statewide

 FP15-01 (defi ning fi shing hook as with or without barb) .........................................................71 
Regional

 FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fi shing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C) ...................76

 FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Districts 1-4) ............87

  FP15-03 Appendix A ........................................................................................................100

 FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the 
Yukon River drainage when drift-gillnet salmon fi sheries are closed) ..................................107

Partners for Fisheries Monitoring Program Strategic Plan (Palma Ingles) ................Supp. Handout

Identify Issues for FY2014 Annual Report* (Council Coordinator) ............................................120

Recommended Changes to Nominations/Appointment Process* (Carl Johnson) .......................122

All-Council Meeting in Winter 2016 (Council Coordinator)

All-Chairs Meeting before January 2015 Board Meeting (Council Coordinator)

Agency Reports 
(Time limit of 15 minutes unless approved in advance)

OSM 

USFWS

NPS

BLM

ADF&G 

Tribal Governments

Native Organizations

Future Meeting Dates*

Confi rm date and location of winter 2015 meeting ......................................................................134

Select date and location of fall 2015 meeting ...............................................................................135

Closing Comments 

Adjourn (Chair) 

To teleconference into the meeting, call the toll free number: 1-866-560-5984, then when prompted 
enter the passcode: 12960066

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife is committed to providing access to this meeting for those with a 
disability who wish to participate. Please direct all requests for accommodation for a disability to 
the Offi ce of Subsistence Management at least fi ve business days prior to the meeting. 

If you have any questions regarding this agenda or need additional information, please contact 
Robert Larson, Council Coordinator at 907-772-5930, robertlarson@fs.fed.us, or contact the 
Offi ce of Subsistence Management at 1-800-478-1456 for general inquiries.



4 Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Roster

Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

REGION 7—Seward Peninsula Regional Advisory Council

Seat
Yr Apptd

Term Expires Member Name & Address

  1 2014
2016

Theodore Katcheak
Stebbins

  2 1995
2016

Peter Buck
White Mountain

  3 2010
2016

Louis Green, Jr.
Nome

  4 2010
2016

Tom Gray
Nome

  5 2011
2014

Reggie Barr
Brevig Mission 

  6 2014
2014

Scott Lockwood
St. Michael

  7 2008
2014

Fred Eningowuk
Shishmaref

  8 1994
2015

Elmer Seetot, Jr.
Brevig Mission 

  9 2012
2015

Charles Saccheus
Elim 

10 2010
2015

Timothy Smith
Nome



5Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes
 

 

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Meeting Minutes 

March 18-19, 2014 
Nome 

Aurora Inn 

The meeting was called to order at 8:57 a.m., Tuesday, March 18, 2014. 

Roll call conducted by Secretary, members present: 

Louis Green 
Reggie Barr
Peter Buck
Fred Eningowuk
Tom Gray  
Ted Katcheak
Charles Saccheus
Elmer Seetot  
Tim Smith  

Quorum established.  

Welcome and introductions 

Present:

Dan Sharp, BLM (telephonic) 
Drew Crawford, ADF&G (telephonic) 
Merben Cebrian, BLM 
Steve Kessler, USFS 
Pat Petrivelli, BIA 
Karen Hyer, OSM 
Chris McKee, OSM 
Ken Adkisson, NPS 
Jeanette Koelsch, NPS 
Alex Nick, OSM 
Austin Ahmasuk, Sitnasuak 

Approval of Agenda 

Tim Smith asked to add discussion of AFN resolution regarding Chinook salmon bycatch in the 
Bering Sea. He also asked for an item under New Business to have a discussion regarding ways 
to increase public participation in meetings.  



6 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes
 

 

Tom Gray asked to add an opportunity for public comments at the time Council does closing 
comments.

Agenda as amended was approved on a voice vote.  

Election of Officers

Chair – Louis Green, Jr. by unanimous consent. 
Vice Chair – Elmer Seetot was nominated, but declined, nominating Tim Smith, who was elected 
by unanimous consent. 
Secretary – Peter Buck by unanimous consent. 

Council Reports 

Seetot: Harvested a musk ox on last day of Federal hunt. Snow conditions have been minimal 
until last week. Teller/Brevig residents have harvested 12-16 wolves.  

Katcheak: Mild weather conditions with ice and rain have also been a problem on southern 
Norton Sound. Happy they have the reindeer herd as a food source or they could be hurting for 
food. Hoping conditions will improve in future. 

Buck: Usually freezes by October 4; this year it didn’t freeze until November 15. No snow until 
recently.  

Gray: Echoed comments on weather, noting weather has changed hunting conditions from 
hunting beluga to caribou. Noted recent success on three Federal musk ox permits, and how 
families will benefit from that. Reiterated impact of weather conditions on fishing and hunting. 

Smith: Subsistence resources continuing to go down, but it’s really remarkable how badly things 
have changed. All populations are declining – except for bears – and no one knows why. No 
one’s salmon runs are healthy. Every year is a disaster. King salmon are recovering on the Snake 
River because of hatcheries – we could do that here.  

Green: We’ve had salmon problems for 30 years, and we need to get together more and talk 
about resolutions to our various natural resource problems. People have testified before the 
Board of Fisheries and the North Pacific Fisheries Management Council; it’s been heart 
wrenching and the State hasn’t done anything significant to resolve the issues. For moose, I’ve 
seen them out by St. Mary’s, but not on the Seward Peninsula. I usually get a moose, and I didn’t 
this year, and that’s hurting my family. Our musk ox is down so much we are back to Tier II. 
Reindeer are down, the Western Arctic Caribou Herd is down. The freezing and rain will 
probably create starvation problems for animals. Bears and wolves are causing predation 
problems. Need to come up with ways to enhance salmon and moose populations.  

Alex Nick mentioned the need to conduct Council training and orientation. Mr. Buck agreed.

Mr. Katcheak noted that the meeting should be announced on public radio in the future.



7Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes 

 

Mr. Gray noted the low level of public participation at the meetings.  

Chair Green suggested a different meeting room with larger audience seating may be a good 
idea.  

Mr. Seetot noted that maybe low public participation is from people putting their trust in 
appointed representatives to address resource issues.

Chair Green asked Alex Nick what attendance was like at other Regional Advisory Council 
meetings, and Mr. Nick noted that attendance was improving at the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta 
Council meeting and that he goes on local radio and speaks in Yup’ik to speak about meetings.  

Other suggestions included using the Sounding Board on KNOM and engaging local tribes about 
upcoming meetings. It was also suggested to let the State advisory committees know about 
upcoming meetings. Discussion then shifted to how Council can get someone from Fisheries 
Division in ADF&G to meetings, which was addressed by Drew Crawford, ADF&G, who 
suggested engaging the local Board Support personnel for ADF&G. It was noted there should be 
more Federal biologists at meetings, as well. One member noted it would be good to have 
information at meetings about proposed legislation that could impact subsistence resources, like 
water. It was also noted that even though this is a Federal advisory council, the piecemeal 
jurisdiction of the region calls for a broader approach. Other ideas were discussed about getting 
the word out about meetings.  

Old Business 

Musk Ox Proposals.
Chris McKee, Office of Subsistence Management, introduced the issue. Pat Petrivelli, BIA, 
provided an overview of ANILCA Section 804 and the process of conducting a Section 804 
analysis. McKee then presented the biological analysis for WP14-33. Tony Gorn, ADF&G, 
responded to biological questions regarding the musk ox herd decline and population status. 
Council members and staff engaged in discussions about potential causes of mortality. Mr. 
Seetot discussed the benefits and nuisances associated with musk ox. Ms. Petrivelli than 
presented the Section 804 analysis for WP14-33, which focused considerably on data showing 
locations where musk ox have been harvested, historical patterns of musk ox harvest, and what 
residents have been harvesting. (See pages 28-65 of transcript for full discussion details.) Ms. 
Petrivelli completed her analysis and the related discussion.

Break for lunch at 12:20 p.m. 

Back on record at 1:45 p.m.  

Drew Crawford, ADF&G, noted that the State supported the proposal as modified by the 
Interagency Staff Committee, including having Federal managers determine and restricting the 
number of Federal permits.  



8 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes
 

 

Chair Green continued through the proposal review process. Mr. Gray expressed concerns about 
engaging in a process of allocating animals and permits.  

Ken Adkisson, National Park Service, sought to put things in perspective as this proposal was for 
one specific hunt area, noting it was a small area and a small number of permits at issue.  

Mr. Gray discussed how neither he nor anyone in his family drew a State permit this year. He 
stressed the importance of musk ox and the need to have as much opportunity as possible 
between the State and Federal systems. He asked what the permit allocation strategy would be 
under this proposal. Mr. Adkisson explained how the permit allocation might work in connection 
with the State system.  

Mr. Smith had a clarifying question about removing the delegation language in the regulation, 
and Mr. Adkisson noted it would be in the form of a letter, but delegated authority would remain 
with managers.  

Meben Cebrian, BLM, noted how BML handled its permit allocation this year, based on how 
permits were issued through the Tier II system. Council members inquired as to the total number 
of Federal permits issued this year and the allocation strategy.

Mr. Buck noted that White Mountain’s interest has always been in moose, and while a lot of 
work has been done on musk ox, nothing had been done on moose and that’s more a priority.  

Mr. Seetot noted that while the population numbers suggest musk ox are low, they are also 
transitory. He questioned how much is understood about wolf predation of musk ox, reiterating 
that they had harvested around 12 wolves in his community and that wolves can be very efficient 
predators.  

Mr. Smith moved to approve proposal as modified on page 32, changing the start of the season 
from August 1 to September 15. Seconded by Mr. Gray. Motion later amended to start the season 
on October 1, for a season that starts October 1 and ends on March 15, to include the 
communities of Council, Golovin, White Mountain, Nome, Teller and Brevig Mission. Motion 
carried unanimously.   

Mr. McKee presented the biological analysis for WP14-35, noting the OSM conclusion was the 
same as for previous proposal. Ms. Petrivelli presented the Section 804 analysis.

Mr. Smith moved to recommend adoption of the proposal as modified on page 55, with the 
season change of October 1 to March 15, limiting the communities eligible for harvest to Nome 
and Teller. Seconded by Mr. Gray. Motion carried unanimously.  

Mr. McKee presented the biological analysis for WP14-36. Ms. Petrivelli presented the Section 
804 analysis, noting that the only communities eligible would be Wales and Shishmaref. Mr. 
Barr moved to recommend adoption of the proposal, with modification for a season from 
October 1 to March 15. Seconded by Mr. Smith.   



9Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes 

 

Mr. Crawford noted that the State supported the proposal as modified by the Interagency Staff 
Committee, and allowing the Federal manager to determine and restrict number of permits.  

Motion to adopt WP14-36 carried unanimously.  

Mr. McKee presented the biological analysis for WP14-38, regarding musk ox in Unit 22D 
Remainder. Ms. Petrivelli presented the Section 804 analysis, noting the harvest should be 
limited to the residents of Elim, Council, Golovin, Koyuk, White Mountain, Nome, Teller and 
Brevig Mission.

It was noted that no Tribes consulted on this proposal.

Drew Crawford, ADF&G, noted that the State supported the proposal as modified by the 
Interagency Staff Committee. Alex Nick noted that there was one written public comment, found 
on page 80 of the meeting book.  

Mr. Smith moved that the proposal be adopted as written on page 96 of the meeting book, wich a 
change that the season would run from October 1 to March 15, and it would read Unit 22D
Remainder, 1 bull by Federal permit or State permit. Federal public lands would be closed to the 
taking of muskox except by Federally qualified subsistence users hunting under these regulations 
who are residents of Brevig Mission, Elim, Nome, Teller and White Mountain.  Mr. Gray 
seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously.  

There was some discussion to provide support for the Council’s choice of what communities 
would be eligible to hunt when it contradicted the Section 804 analysis presented by staff.

Mr. McKee presented the biological analysis for WP14-39. Ms. Petravelli presented the Section 
8054 analysis, and noted what communities have shown more traditional direct dependence on 
the musk ox. The conclusion was that Elim, Council, Golovin, Koyuk, and White Mountain, all 
located in Unit 22B, should be provided a subsistence priority over Nome, located in Unit 22C. 
The Council asked some questions about harvest, which were answered by Mr. Cebrian, BLM. 

Mr. Smith moved adopt the modified regulation as shown on Page 116, which would provide for 
one bull by Federal Unit 22B, one bull by Federal permit or State permit. Federal public lands 
would be closed to the taking of musk ox except by Federally qualified subsistence users hunting 
under these regulations.  Federal public lands are closed to the harvest of muskox except by 
Federally qualified subsistence users, and the season would run from October 1 to March. 
Eligible communities would be Elim, Golovin, Koyuk, White Mountain and Nome. Mr. Gray 
seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. 

Mr. Gray then proposed that once a person applies for a permit, there would be a system that 
randomly generated the permit based on the areas you were eligible to hunt. Mr. Cebrian, BLM, 
then noted that the letters of delegation could address the method for issuing permits.  

Mr. Gray then moved to have the Federal agencies set up a system to issue their permits through 
an application and drawing process. The motion was seconded by Mr. Smith. Mr. Adkisson, 



10 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes
 

 

NPS, cautioned against a one-size fits all approach to permitting, stressing the need for flexibility 
in permit and management approaches. He then discussed various approaches to issuing permits, 
including use of Tribal IRA Councils. Mr. Cebrian, BLM, agreed with Mr. Adkisson’s 
cautionary statements. Mr. Gray responded by stressing the need for caution in issuing permits, 
that it needs to be a fair system. Mr. Smith echoed the concerns. Mr. Adkisson responded to the 
concerns. The Council members and Federal staff discussed a variety of issues related to permit 
allocation, geographic distribution and potential pool of applicants, as well as how permits are 
currently issued for certain areas (like Unit 22E). The motion was ultimately amended to leave 
Unit 22E out of the impact of the motion. The motion was restated, that it would be a lottery 
process for distributing the musk ox hunts, but that Unit 22E would be excluded from the lottery 
system. The motion carried with one abstention.

Off record for March 18.

On record, March 19 at 8:57 a.m.  

Alex Nick provided reminders to the Council about travel procedures and per diem. He also 
asked Council members to confirm their receipt of the 2013 Regional Advisory Council 
Operations Manual. He also reminded Council members of the contact policy (where outside 
parties wish to contact Council members).  

There was then some discussion about how long it took for sitting Council members to receive 
their reappointment letters.  

Mr. Smith noted that the musk ox management plan is out of date and moved that it be revised 
and that the Office of Subsistence Management fund the planning process. The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Eningowuk. Mr. Gray mentioned the musk ox cooperative union, and Mr. 
Adkisson noted that they were not funded the way the Western Arctic Caribou Herd Working 
Group is, that costs were borne out of individual agencies. There was a general discussion of 
what the costs would be to revitalize the musk ox union and fund its meetings. It would also take 
a lot of planning and agenda development to be successful. Mr. Adkisson then discussed what 
would be needed to update the musk ox management plan. The motion carried unanimously.  

The chair then identified people in the room and asked those on the teleconference line to 
identify themselves.  

Chum Salmon Bycatch
Mr. Smith opened the discussion on chum salmon bycatch, noting the upcoming meeting of the 
North Pacific Fisheries Management Council and the Council’s stated position for a 30,000 cap 
on chum salmon bycatch. He also noted there is no consistent regional position on the issues, and 
that we need to start moving on developing a consistent position for the region. He suggested 
also coordinating with people in the YK Delta region through the Association of Village Council 
Presidents. Mr. Seetot discussed influence of beaver and status of various salmon populations in 
his area. Mr. Gray noted that Area M was also a contributing factor beyond the Pollack fleet.



11Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes
 

 

Brandon Ahmasuk, a subsistence worker at Kawerak, joined the discussion, suggesting a hard 
cap rather than average numbers would be important to pursue. He then discussed the history of 
the Pollack fishery and impact on Chinook salmon stocks.  

Mr. Smith then reiterated that there have been almost 35 bad years with the salmon population, 
and that we need to start doing something.  

The Council engaged in a lengthy discussion about bycatch, salmon populations, and proposed 
caps on bycatch, predation of salmon stocks, the Wassup Study, as well as the challenges of 
fragmented jurisdiction.  (For full discussion, visit transcript pages 147-169.) 

Customary and Traditional Use Determination Review
Karen Hyer, Office of Subsistence Management, read a briefing to the Council on the status of 
the customary and traditional use determination review. Ms. Petrivelli, BIA, provided additional 
information regarding what other Councils have suggested in approaches to changing the process 
of making C&T determinations.  

Mr. Gray noted that what is customary and traditional changes over time, noting their own 
harvest patterns in his area, and expressed concerns about someone “monkeying with” C&T. Ms. 
Petrivelli noted the desire was to make a system that is more flexible. Mr. Kacheak noted that the 
current C&T system seems to be working. 

Barry Mendenhall, member of the public, offered testimony about traditional trade and noted that 
there needed to be Federal regulations addressing trade. He discussed various regional trading 
practices and expressed concern about subsistence activities and tools (like snowmachines, nets, 
or rifles) being taxed. So he stressed the need to have regulations that reflected and documented 
traditional trade activities. Mr. Kacheak thanked him for his comments.  

Ms. Petrivelli noted that both ANILCA and its regulations already recognize customary trade 
activities, providing language from the regulations. She then distinguished customary trade from 
the discussion at hand on customary and traditional use determinations and Section 804 of 
ANILCA. Mr. Saccheus raised the issue of barter.  

Nikki Braem, ADF&G, noted that State regulations recognize barter and discussed the Norton 
Sound customary trade regulations. She also provided distinctions between barter and customary 
trade and provided information on how the customary trade regulations were adopted. She also 
provided clarifying information on the reporting form for engaging in customary trade.  

Both Mr. Buck and Chair Green expressed satisfaction with the current C&T process.  

Rural Determination Review
Karen Hyer, OSM, provided an overview on the status of the rural determination review.

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program
Karen Hyer, OSM, provided a briefing on the Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program that 
provides grant money for fisheries research related to Federal public lands. She noted that in 



12 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes
 

 

order to prepare for the next funding cycle, OSM needed to identify the priority research and 
information needs for each region. She also noted that, in order to ensure that the Council’s 
interests are adequately recorded, they would start the dialogue sooner this year.

Mr. Smith noted that he believed that the highest priority information need is to identify Area M 
intercept and Pollack trawl fishery bycatch impacts on the chum and Chinook salmon stocks. Mr. 
Gray noted that the fragmented jurisdiction of the region made it frustratingly difficult to get 
funding and research. He mentioned dog salmon on the Nome River. Mr. Smith added that we 
needed a review of how escapement goals are being set by ADF&G. Mr. Barr noted concerns 
about dwindling population of sockeye and Chinook salmon in the Teller and Brevig Mission 
area. Mr. Seetot noted that the primary concern for areas outside of Nome has been fish. He also 
expressed concerns about impacts of mining on fish streams. He also expressed the importance 
of TEK (traditional ecological knowledge). He noted they have not seek Chinook salmon in the 
Port Clarence area for some time. He noted that large fall storms may have also adversely 
impacted the sockeye fry, that sockeye harvest has been smaller.  

The Council then engaged in a discussion of the propriety of having NSEDC (Norton Sound 
Economic Development Council) operate a fish counting tower for counting sockeye salmon on 
the Pilgrim River. Mr. Mendenhall expressed concerns and opposition to a proposed resolution 
to have the ADF&G resume control of that fish counting operation. Mr. Smith noted that he 
thought the number disparity between escapement and harvest was due to misidentification at the 
counting tower. He noted he would support a letter to NSEDC and ADF&G noting there is a 
problem with the counting at the tower. Chair Green noted he supported the notion of ADF&G 
taking responsibility for management of the weir and asked other Council members for their 
opinion. Mr. Barr said he would support that position. Mr. Seetot noted he also supported that, 
disagreeing with State claims that they don’t have the staff to run the weir. Mr. Gray noted it 
might be better to have ADF&G in the room to discuss the issue. Letty Hughes, ADF&G, 
identified himself (presumably on the teleconference).  

The Council recessed for lunch. The meeting resumed at 1:30 p.m.  

Karen Hyer, OSM, noted that a resolution had been developed and that it could go to other 
Regional Advisory Councils for their review and comment.

The Council then engaged in a discussion of a proposal before the Board of Fisheries related to 
moving the crab pot lines in closer to Nome (currently ten miles off shore).  Ms. Hyer noted the 
Council could submit a letter on it, but was unsure whether there was currently a proposal where 
the BOF was seeking comment. Drew Crawford, ADF&G, noted that there did not appear to be 
any current proposals pending on the issue. Mr. Smith then moved to resolve that ADF&G not 
relax the line limiting summertime commercial fishing in the future. The motion was seconded 
by Mr. Gray. During discussion, Mr. Crawford brought up a proposal submitted by NSEDC that 
would only allow summer harvest of red king crab above a certain abundance threshold. Council 
members and the public then discussed their history of fishing for crab. The Council then 
clarified that they would wish to send a letter to ADF&G asking them not to relax the crab line in 
the future, then in three years submit a proposal limiting their emergency authority on that issue. 



13Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes 

 

Mr. Gray moved to submit a letter that would ask ADF&G to not relax the crab line in the future 
at all. The motion was seconded by Mr. Buck. The motion carried unanimously.  

Ms. Hyer returned the Council to its prior discussion of the weir on the Pilgrim River for 
resolution. Mr. Gray noted that if the problem was how fish were being counted, then there 
needed to be education on counting fish. Mr. Smith suggested taking a seine net up to the weir, 
hauling in fish and counting them, then comparing that number to what the tower counted. He 
suggested the letter should include something about having a quality control program to ensure 
accurate counting.  

New Business 

Call for Fisheries Proposals.
Karen Hyer provided an overview of the call for proposals for 2015-17. There was Council 
discussion on the extent of Federal subsistence fisheries jurisdiction for the region. The 
discussion concluded with a note that it will be up to individuals to submit proposals.  

Review and Approve FY2013 Annual Report
Alex Nick provided an overview of the content of the draft annual report. Mr. Smith noted that 
the Council’s intent was reflected in the draft, but that he had some wording edits to make to the 
report. He also highlighted some of the specific issues in the report. The Council then discussed 
with Mr. Nick and Ms. Petrivelli what sort of action the Council should take to affirm its 
approval of the report. Mr. Smith moved to table approval of the draft annual report until review 
of a final draft is possible. Mr. Katcheak seconded the motion. The motion carried unanimously.  

Tribal Consultation Implementation Guidelines and Draft ANCSA Consultation Policy
Ms. Petrivelli provided an overview of the draft Tribal Consultation Implementation Guidelines 
and the draft ANCSA Corporation Consultation Policy, noting that the Tribal Consultation Work 
Group was seeking Council input on both documents. The Council asked how successful the 
Tribal consultations have been, and Federal staff noted that there had been minimal engagement. 
Mr. Nick provided insight on how Tribal consultation is conducted in the YK Delta region. Mr. 
Buck noted favorable experience with Tribal consultations in the past. The Council resolved to 
make comments on the implementation guideline and ANCSA policy at a later time.  

Nominations
Ms. Hyer provided an overview of the process of accepting applications for Regional Advisory 
Council membership. Chair Green noted that Council members should get the word out. 

AVCP Resolution on Bycatch
Mr. Smith provided an overview of a resolution that AVCP submitted at AFN (Alaska 
Federation of Natives annual conference) last fall, proposing a reduction of the Chinook salmon 
bycatch by the Pollack fishery to 15,000. He noted that he would like the Council to submit a 
letter to the Federal Subsistence Board supporting this resolution. The Council seemed in general 
agreement and support of the request. 



14 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes 

 

Agency Reports

OSM
Ms. Hyer provided an overview of staffing changes at OSM.

NPS
Ken Adkisson provided a report for NPS. First, he provided an overview of recent wildlife 
surveys, including brown bears, moose, muskoxen, and noted challenges related to weather. He 
also mentioned some staffing challenges for Bering Land Bridge National Preserve and Western 
Arctic National Park Lands. He mentioned some staffing support they receive from Gates of the 
Arctic staff in Fairbanks. Mr. Seetot said that he appreciated all the work that Mr. Adkisson and 
NPS do for the communities in helping them to apply for and obtain permits.  

Mr. Eningowuk asked the status of the oil tanks at the Serpentine Hot Springs. Jeanette Koelsch, 
NPS, noted that they are looking to move the tanks in April and the area would be remediated.  

ADF&G
Letty Hughes provided a harvest management report, first discussing the moose registration hunt 
for moose in 22B west and 22D  Kuzitrin area. She then provided information on the Tier II 
musk ox hunt in 22E. Mr. Smith asked a question about Unit 22C moose. Ms. Hughes then 
discussed the recent moose suervey for 22D and 22E. She then discussed recent brown bear, 
moose and wolf harvests. Ms. Hughes concluded her presentation with an overview of some 
pending State proposals to the Board of Game for the area. Mr. Eningowuk asked if there was 
any data source on moose other than the registration hunt. Mr. Katcheak asked about census 
taken for brown bear in Unit 22A. Mr. Eningowuk asked a question about putting a bounty on 
brown bears, and Ms. Hughes noted there were currently no bounties authorized for predator 
species. She reminded the Council about taking bears in defense of life and property. Chair 
Green noted that Mr. Eningowuk was asking if Tribal entities could pay for bounties, and Ms. 
Hughes noted she didn’t know the answer to that. Mr. Buck noted they thought of putting a 
bounty on a large brown bear that was hanging out by White Mountain last fall. The Council 
then engaged in a discussion on harvest of brown bears.

Mr. Crawford provided information on how to locate and contact Advisory Committees in the 
region. He also noted a report on the ADF&G website that is the 2012 annual management report 
for Norton Sound, Port Clarence and the Kotzebue area. He also provided follow-up information 
on the Pilgrim River weir project.

Future Meeting Dates

Fall – October 7-8 in Nome 
Winter – February 18-19 in Nome 

Closing Comments 

Smith: Good and productive meeting, wish we had more public participation. Fish and wildlife 
management in Alaska can’t work without public participation. 



15Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes 

 

Eningowuk: Brown bear and musk ox encounters while berry picking, inadequate snow to go 
harvest caribou.

Mr. Eningowuk asked if Council could rescind its action on WP14-36 and restore original 
season. Mr. Smith asked Mr. Adkisson about population concerns for musk ox. The Council then 
engaged in a discussion about the concerns for the season length, opportunities for hunters, the 
conservation concerns for the musk ox, and the procedural problem with changing the seasons. 
Mr. Eningowuk then moved to restore the original season for WP14-36, for August 1 to March 
15. Then the Council discussed that they needed to move to reconsider the prior motion on that 
proposal. The Council then reconsidered its prior decision and adopted the motion to restore the 
original season dates.

Gray: This was a good meeting, a good working group.  

Buck: Good meeting, and we learned a lot. They’ve been monitoring the river at White Mountain 
for five years, had a scare with House Bill 77 threatening to take over water rights in the state. 
Thanks to Kawerak for providing information about the bill so they could protect their water 
rights in White Mountain.  

Seetot: Good that we are meeting in the Nome hub, a lot of people live here, and this is where 
people in the region come or pass through. We do have a problem with public participation, 
people in villages assume that Council members act to represent their community. We are 
subsistence food gathers, we look out for the interests of within and outside of communities we 
represent.  

Katcheak: Appreciate being a member on the Council again after an absence of several years; I 
have a little more understanding on different species and how they are harvested. I am a reindeer 
herder by still depend on subsistence animals and fish. Thank you for the opportunity to serve 
again.

Barr: Good meeting, happy to see lack of red salmon in Teller/Brevig area being discussed.

Saccheus: Good meeting, thanks for reconsidering the season on musk ox, we have 
accomplished something for our people. Have a good spring.  

Green: Thank you for the vote of confidence to place me in the Chair position again. I also 
appreciate the patience of everyone in the room, relaxing procedures to encourage public 
participation, and that it may encourage more public participation. Thanks to KNOM for being 
here. Welcome to the new members. Encourage Council members to reach out to community for 
applications to the Council.

Meeting adjourned.

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the foregoing minutes are accurate and 
complete. 



16 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2014 Meeting Minutes 

 

March 19, 2014 

Alex Nick, DFO 
USFWS Office of Subsistence Management 

Louis Green, Chair 
Seward Peninsula Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 

These minutes will be formally considered by the Seward Peninsula Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council at its next meeting, and any corrections or notations will be incorporated in the 
minutes of that meeting. 



12 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

805(c) Report



13Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

805(c) Report



14 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

805(c) Report

1

FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE BOARD NON-CONSENSUS ACTION REPORT 
April 15-18, 2014 
Anchorage, Alaska 

SEWARD PENINSULA REGIONAL PROPOSALS 

Proposal WP14-33 

DESCRIPTION: Proposal was submitted by the National Park Service, requests that the season 
and harvest limit for muskox in Unit 22D within Kuzitrin River drainage (Unit 22D Kuzitrin) be 
changed to eliminate the cow hunt.  In addition, the proposal requests that language be added to 
authorize the Superintendent of the Bering Land Bridge National Preserve to restrict the number 
of Federal registration permits to be issued. 

COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION:  Support with OSM modification based on the Section 
804 analysis (identifying communities eligible for the hunt) and to shorten the season by two 
months (eliminate the Aug. 1 to Oct. 1 period of the season). 

BOARD ACTION: Adopted with modification  

JUSTIFICATION: The Board accepted the modifications recommended by the Council, except 
for the shortened season. As the public, Tribes and ANCSA Corporations were not provided 
notice of the Council’s recommended shortened season, the Board deemed it procedurally 
improper to consider that part of the Council’s recommendation.  Additionally, a shorter Federal 
muskox season would reduce opportunity for Federally-qualified subsistence hunters to harvest 
muskox between August 1st and October 1st.  As the shorter season may be detrimental to the 
satisfaction of subsistence needs, ANILCA Section 805(c) compelled the Board to reject that 
modification.  The original season dates of Aug. 1-Mar. 15 were retained. 

Proposal WP14-35 

DESCRIPTION: This proposal, which was submitted by the Bureau of Land Management, 
requests that the season and harvest limit for muskox in Unit 22D west of the Tisuk River 
drainage and Canyon Creek (Unit 22D Southwest) be changed to eliminate the cow hunt. In 
addition, the proposal requests that BLM Anchorage Field Manager be specified as the Federal 
manager, and that language be added to authorize the Federal manager to restrict the number of 
Federal permits to be issued. 

COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION: Support with OSM modification as well as to add Nome 
and Teller to those communities included in the Section 804 analysis for that portion of Unit 22D 
west of the Tisuk River drainage and Canyon Creek and to shorten the season by one month 
(eliminate the Sept. 1 to Oct. 1 portion of the season).  



15Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

805(c) Report

2

BOARD ACTION: Adopted with modification  

JUSTIFICATION: The Board accepted the modifications recommended by the Council, except 
for the shortened season. As the public, Tribes and ANCSA Corporations were not provided 
notice of the Council’s recommended shortened season, the Board deemed it procedurally 
improper to consider that part of the Council’s recommendation.  Additionally, a shorter Federal 
muskox season would reduce opportunity for Federally-qualified subsistence hunters to harvest 
muskox between August 1st and October 1st.  As the shorter season may be detrimental to the 
satisfaction of subsistence needs, ANILCA Section 805(c) compelled the Board to reject that 
modification.  The original season dates of September 1-March 15 were retained. 

Proposal WP14-38 

DESCRIPTION: This proposal, which was submitted by the Bureau of Land Management, 
requested that the season and harvest limit for muskox in Unit 22D Remainder be changed to 
eliminate the cow harvest. In addition, the proposal requests the BLM Anchorage Field Manager 
be specified as the Federal manager, and that language be added to authorize the Federal 
manager to restrict the number of Federal permits to be issued.   

COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION: Support with OSM’s modification and further modify to 
add Brevig Mission, Nome, Teller, Elim and White Mountain to the Section 804 priority 
communities for Unit 22D remainder and start the season on October 1 instead of August 1. 

BOARD ACTION: Adopt with OSM and Council’s modifications with the exception that 
August 1 start date be retained in the regulation.

JUSTIFICATION: A shorter Federal muskox season would reduce opportunity for Federally-
qualified subsistence hunters to harvest muskox between August 1st and October 1st.  As the 
shorter season may be detrimental to the satisfaction of subsistence needs, ANILCA Section 
805(c) compelled the Board to reject that modification.  The original season dates of  
Aug. 1-Mar. 15 were retained. 

Proposal WP14-39 

DESCRIPTION: This proposal, which was submitted by the Bureau of Land Management, 
requested that the season and harvest limit for muskox in Unit 22B be changed to eliminate the 
cow hunt.  In addition, the proposal requests that BLM Anchorage Field Manager be specified as 
the Federal manager, and that language be added to authorize the Federal manager to restrict the 
number of Federal permits to be issued. 

COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION: Support with OSM modification with the additional 
modification to start the season on October 1 instead of August 1. 



16 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

805(c) Report

3

BOARD ACTION:  Adopted as modified by the Council with exception of keeping the 
season start date of Aug. 1. 

JUSTIFICATION: A shorter Federal muskox season would reduce opportunity for Federally-
qualified subsistence hunters to harvest muskox between August 1st and October 1st.  As the 
shorter season may be detrimental to the satisfaction of subsistence needs, ANILCA Section 
805(c) compelled the Board to reject that modification. The original season dates of  
August 1-March 15 were retained. 

MULTIREGION CROSSOVER PROPOSALS 

Proposal WP14-22

DESCRIPTION: This proposal, submitted by the Bristol Bay Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council, requested the establishment of permit requirements for all of the units, and that the  
to-be-announced fall season in Unit 17A remainder and 17C remainder be shortened from 
August 1-March 31 to August 1-March 15.  

COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Bristol Bay Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support with OSM modification
Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council-Support with modification 
Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support with OSM 
modification.
Seward Peninsula Subsistence Regional Advisory Council- Support

BOARD ACTION: Adopt

JUSTIFICATION: The Board adopted Proposal WP14-22 with modification as recommended by 
the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council.  The adopted 
modification, as described in the OSM conclusion for Unit 18 only, allowed a harvest limit of 
two caribou, and struck the bull restriction language as suggested for WP14-26.  The registration 
hunt on the declining herd will allow for the monitoring of the Mulchatna Caribou Herd.  
Adaptive management is needed to ensure the conservation of the resource.  State registration 
permit will allow for better harvest tracking and will allow managers to be more responsive to 
in-season management needs. 

Proposal WP14-23 

DESCRIPTION:  This proposal, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence 
Regional Advisory Council,  requested an extension of the moose season in Unit 18, that portion 
north and west of the Kashunuk River including the north bank from the mouth of the river 
upstream to the old village of Chakaktolik to Mountain Village and excluding all 



17Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

805(c) Report

4

Yukon River drainages upriver from Mountain Village, from August 1 to the last day of 
February, to August 1 to March 31.  It also requested removal of the bull-only restriction from 
August 1-September 30.   

COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council-Support with modification  
Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support with modification
Seward Peninsula Subsistence Regional Advisory Council- Support 

BOARD ACTION: Adopted with modification.

JUSTIFICATION: The Board adopted proposal WP14-23 as modified to reflect and clarify 
similar regulatory harvest changes recently adopted the Alaska Board of Game to allow antlered 
bull to be harvested from September 1-30; December 1-March 31.  This action will simplify the 
regulations for subsistence users and provide for additional subsistence opportunities to harvest 
moose.

Proposal WP14-24 and 14-25
DESCRIPTION: WP 14-24, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council, requested that the boundary for Unit 18, that portion north and west of the 
Kashunuk River including the north bank from the mouth of the river upstream to the old village 
of Chakaktolik, west of a line from Chakaktolik to Mountain Village and excluding all Yukon 
River drainages upriver from Mountain Village be changed to include the Kashunuk River and 
the North Fork of the Andreafsky River.  

WP14-25, submitted by the Asa’Carsarmiut Tribal Council, requested that the boundary for  
Unit 18, that portion north and west of the Kashunuk River including the north bank from the 
mouth of the river upstream to the old village of Chakaktolik, west of a line from Chakaktolik to 
Mountain Village and excluding all Yukon River drainages upriver from Mountain Village be 
revised to include the south bank of the Kashunuk River for its entire length. It would also 
liberalize moose harvest for a small area upriver of Mountain Village that would be included in 
the lower Yukon hunt area instead of Unit 18 remainder. 

COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support with OSM 
modification 
Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support with OSM 
modification 
Seward Peninsula Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support 

BOARD ACTION: No action taken. 

JUSTIFICATION: The proposed regulatory changes were addressed in the Board’s action taken 
on WP14-23. 



18 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

805(c) Report

5

Proposal WP14-26 

DESCRIPTION: This proposal, submitted by the Yukon Delta National Wildlife Refuge, 
requested that for Unit 18 – that portion to the east and south of the Kuskokwim River – the 
caribou hunt be changed to require a joint State/Federal registration permit; the 1 bull harvest 
restriction be eliminated and the split season be eliminated and a continuous season from  
August 1 to March 15 be established.  Additionally, the proponent asks that the Yukon Delta 
National Wildlife manager be given delegated authority to close or re-open Federal public lands 
to all user for this hunt if needed for conservation concerns after consultation with the Alaska 
department of Fish and Game (ADF&G), the Togiak National Wildlife Refuge manager, and the 
chair of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council.  

COUNCIL RECOMMNDATION: 
Bristol Bay Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support with modification
Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council- Take no action  
Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council – Support with modification
Seward Peninsula Subsistence Regional Advisory Council- Take no action 

BOARD ACTION: No action taken 

JUSTIFICATION:  The proposed regulatory changes were addressed in the Board’s action taken 
on WP14-22. 



12 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Reply



13Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Reply



14 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Reply



15Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Reply



16 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Reply



12 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Reply - enclosure

FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE BOARD PROCEDURES
ADDRESSING PETITIONS FOR SECRETARIAL EXTENSION OF 

JURISDICTION FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION  
OF A FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE PRIORITY 

The US Code Title 5 Section 553(e); 7 CFR 1.28; and 43 CFR 14 allow citizens to 
petition the Secretaries of the Interior and Agriculture (Secretaries).  The Secretaries will 
accept for consideration petitions to exert authority over hunting, fishing, or trapping 
activities occurring on non-Federal lands when such petitions indicate that those activities 
may be interfering with subsistence hunting, fishing, or trapping on the Federal public 
lands and waters to such an extent as to result in a failure to provide the subsistence 
priority as specified in Title VIII of the Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act.   

The Secretaries carefully review each case and use a very high threshold when making 
their decision whether to extend Federal jurisdiction.  Petitioners should submit sufficient 
facts and/or analytic standards to document both the failure to maintain a subsistence 
priority and how the failure relates to activities occurring off of Federal lands. 

The Federal Subsistence Management Regulations for Public Lands in Alaska (36 CFR 
Part 242 and 50 CFR Part 100, §____.10) clarify that the Secretaries have not delegated 
the authority to restrict or eliminate activities occurring on non-Federal lands to the 
Federal Subsistence Board (Board).  However, §____.10(d)(4)(xvii) of those regulations 
gives the Board the authority to evaluate whether activities on non-Federal lands may 
interfere with subsistence activities on Federal public lands or waters, to consult with the 
State of Alaska, the Regional Councils, and other Federal agencies, and to make 
recommendations to the Secretaries. 

The Board will utilize the following procedures and any additional directions provided by 
the Secretaries when developing recommendations on a request for extension of Federal 
jurisdiction. 

PROCEDURES

1.  Petitions should be addressed to the Secretaries of the Interior and Agriculture as 
follows: 

 Secretary of the Interior and Secretary of Agriculture 
 c/o Chair, Federal Subsistence Board 
 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Subsistence Management 
 1101 East Tudor Road, MS 121 
 Anchorage, AK  99503-6199 



13Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Reply - enclosure

2.  Each petition must clearly identify the affected subsistence activity, the Federal 
public lands or waters where that activity occurs, and how the subsistence priority has 
been harmed so as to result in a failure.  Each petition should present substantial evidence 
demonstrating that the failure of the subsistence priority is specifically due to a hunting, 
fishing, or trapping activity that is occurring off of Federal public lands or waters.  The 
information should describe what the interfering activity is, where and when it is taking 
place, and how it is causing the failure of the subsistence priority on the Federal public 
lands and waters. 

3.  Each petition should describe the desired result from Secretarial extension of 
jurisdiction and propose Federal regulations which would accommodate the subsistence 
priority. 

4.  The Board, upon receipt of such a petition, will forward the petition to the Secretaries, 
notify the State of Alaska and affected Regional Council(s), and may issue a notice to the 
general public of the request for extension of Federal jurisdiction. 

5.  If the Secretaries believe that public comment on the issue or extensive analysis will 
aid in consideration of the petition, they may request the Federal Subsistence Board to 
hold public meetings to solicit comments and to develop a more detailed analysis of the 
issue. 

6.  If directed to do so by the Secretaries, the Board and staff may conduct additional 
research and assemble information that assists in a thorough analysis.  In developing their 
recommendation to the Secretaries, the Board may meet in public session and accept 
testimony on the petition. 

7.  Following review of all information, staff analyses, and public comments, the Board 
will forward their confidential recommendation to the Secretaries. 

Following receipt of a recommendation from the Board, the Secretaries will promptly 
notify the petitioners of their final decision relative to the petition.  A Secretarial decision 
constitutes the final administrative remedy for any petition. 

Approved by the Federal Subsistence Board on July 18, 2005.



12 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

C&T/ANILCA Section 804 Comparison Table

G
en

er
al

 c
om

pa
ri

so
n 

of
 th

e 
Se

ct
io

n 
80

4 
an

d 
cu

st
om

ar
y 

an
d 

tr
ad

iti
on

al
 u

se
 a

pp
ro

ac
he

s u
se

d 
in

 th
e 

Fe
de

ra
l S

ub
si

st
en

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t P
ro

gr
am

.

E
le

m
en

t 
80

4 
an

al
ys

is 
C

&
T

 u
se

 d
et

er
m

in
at

io
n 

an
al

ys
is

 
Fu

nc
tio

n
U

se
d 

to
 id

en
tif

y 
th

e 
po

ol
 o

f q
ua

lif
ie

d 
su

bs
is

te
nc

e 
us

er
s w

he
n 

a 
po

pu
la

tio
n 

of
 fi

sh
 o

r w
ild

lif
e 

in
 a

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 a

re
a 

is
 n

ot
 su

ff
ic

ie
nt

 to
 

al
lo

w
 fo

r a
ll 

qu
al

ifi
ed

 su
bs

is
te

nc
e 

us
er

s t
o 

ha
rv

es
t f

ro
m

 it
 

U
se

d 
to

 re
co

gn
iz

e 
a 

co
m

m
un

ity
 o

r a
re

a 
w

ho
se

 re
si

de
nt

s g
en

er
al

ly
 e

xh
ib

it 
ch

ar
ac

te
ris

tic
s o

f c
us

to
m

ar
y 

an
d 

tra
di

tio
na

l u
se

 o
f s

pe
ci

fic
 fi

sh
 st

oc
ks

 a
nd

 
w

ild
lif

e 
po

pu
la

tio
ns

 fo
r s

ub
si

st
en

ce
 

A
ut

ho
ri

ty
A

N
IL

C
A

 S
ec

tio
n 

80
4 

an
d 

50
 C

FR
 1

00
.1

7 
36

 C
FR

 2
42

.1
6 

an
d 

50
 C

FR
 1

00
.1

6 

L
eg

al
la

ng
ua

ge
 

Ex
ce

pt
 a

s o
th

er
w

is
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 in
 th

is
 A

ct
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 F
ed

er
al

 la
w

s, 
th

e 
ta

ki
ng

 o
n 

pu
bl

ic
 la

nd
s o

f f
is

h 
an

d 
w

ild
lif

e 
fo

r n
on

w
as

te
fu

l s
ub

si
st

en
ce

 
us

es
 sh

al
l b

e 
ac

co
rd

ed
 p

rio
rit

y 
ov

er
 th

e 
ta

ki
ng

 o
n 

su
ch

 la
nd

s o
f f

is
h 

an
d 

w
ild

lif
e 

fo
r o

th
er

 p
ur

po
se

s. 
W

he
ne

ve
r i

t i
s n

ec
es

sa
ry

 to
 re

st
ric

t t
he

 
ta

ki
ng

 o
f p

op
ul

at
io

ns
 o

f f
is

h 
an

d 
w

ild
lif

e 
on

 su
ch

 la
nd

s f
or

 su
bs

is
te

nc
e 

us
es

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 p

ro
te

ct
 th

e 
co

nt
in

ue
d 

vi
ab

ili
ty

 o
f s

uc
h 

po
pu

la
tio

ns
, o

r 
to

 c
on

tin
ue

 su
ch

 u
se

s, 
su

ch
 p

rio
rit

y 
sh

al
l b

e 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
th

ro
ug

h 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 li
m

ita
tio

ns
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

cr
ite

ria
: 

(a
) T

he
 B

oa
rd

 sh
al

l d
et

er
m

in
e 

w
hi

ch
 fi

sh
 st

oc
ks

 a
nd

 w
ild

lif
e 

po
pu

la
tio

ns
 h

av
e 

be
en

 c
us

to
m

ar
ily

 a
nd

 tr
ad

iti
on

al
ly

 u
se

d 
fo

r s
ub

si
st

en
ce

. T
he

se
 d

et
er

m
in

at
io

ns
 

sh
al

l i
de

nt
ify

 th
e 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

co
m

m
un

ity
’s

 o
r a

re
a’

s u
se

 o
f s

pe
ci

fic
 fi

sh
 st

oc
ks

 a
nd

 
w

ild
lif

e 
po

pu
la

tio
ns

. F
or

 a
re

as
 m

an
ag

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
N

at
io

na
l P

ar
k 

Se
rv

ic
e,

 w
he

re
 

su
bs

is
te

nc
e 

us
es

 a
re

 a
llo

w
ed

, t
he

 d
et

er
m

in
at

io
ns

 m
ay

 b
e 

m
ad

e 
on

 a
n 

in
di

vi
du

al
 

ba
si

s.
(b

) A
 c

om
m

un
ity

 o
r a

re
a 

sh
al

l g
en

er
al

ly
 e

xh
ib

it 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

fa
ct

or
s, 

w
hi

ch
 

ex
em

pl
ify

 c
us

to
m

ar
y 

an
d 

tra
di

tio
na

l u
se

. T
he

 B
oa

rd
 sh

al
l m

ak
e 

cu
st

om
ar

y 
an

d 
tra

di
tio

na
l u

se
 d

et
er

m
in

at
io

ns
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

fa
ct

or
s:

 
C

ri
te

ri
a/

 
fa

ct
or

s
(1

) C
us

to
m

ar
y 

an
d 

di
re

ct
 d

ep
en

de
nc

e 
up

on
 th

e 
po

pu
la

tio
ns

 a
s t

he
 

m
ai

ns
ta

y 
of

 li
ve

lih
oo

d;
 

(2
) L

oc
al

 re
si

de
nc

y;
 a

nd
 

(3
) T

he
 a

va
ila

bi
lit

y 
of

 a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

re
so

ur
ce

s. 

(1
) A

 lo
ng

-te
rm

 c
on

si
st

en
t p

at
te

rn
 o

f u
se

, e
xc

lu
di

ng
 in

te
rr

up
tio

ns
 b

ey
on

d 
th

e 
co

nt
ro

l o
f t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

 o
r a

re
a;

 
(2

) A
 p

at
te

rn
 o

f u
se

 re
cu

rr
in

g 
in

 sp
ec

ifi
c 

se
as

on
s f

or
 m

an
y 

ye
ar

s;
 

(3
) A

 p
at

te
rn

 o
f u

se
 c

on
si

st
in

g 
of

 m
et

ho
ds

 a
nd

 m
ea

ns
 o

f h
ar

ve
st

 w
hi

ch
 a

re
 

ch
ar

ac
te

riz
ed

 b
y 

ef
fic

ie
nc

y 
an

d 
ec

on
om

y 
of

 e
ff

or
t a

nd
 c

os
t, 

co
nd

iti
on

ed
 b

y 
lo

ca
l c

ha
ra

ct
er

is
tic

s;
 

(4
) T

he
 c

on
si

st
en

t h
ar

ve
st

 a
nd

 u
se

 o
f f

is
h 

or
 w

ild
lif

e 
as

 re
la

te
d 

to
 p

as
t m

et
ho

ds
 

an
d 

m
ea

ns
 o

f t
ak

in
g;

 n
ea

r, 
or

 re
as

on
ab

ly
 a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
fr

om
, t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

 o
r 

ar
ea

; 
(5

) A
 m

ea
ns

 o
f h

an
dl

in
g,

 p
re

pa
rin

g,
 p

re
se

rv
in

g,
 a

nd
 st

or
in

g 
fis

h 
or

 w
ild

lif
e 

w
hi

ch
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

tra
di

tio
na

lly
 u

se
d 

by
 p

as
t g

en
er

at
io

ns
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n 
of

 a
lte

ra
tio

n 
of

 p
as

t p
ra

ct
ic

es
 d

ue
 to

 re
ce

nt
 te

ch
no

lo
gi

ca
l a

dv
an

ce
s, 

w
he

re
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
;

(6
) A

 p
at

te
rn

 o
f u

se
 w

hi
ch

 in
cl

ud
es

 th
e 

ha
nd

in
g 

do
w

n 
of

 k
no

w
le

dg
e 

of
 fi

sh
in

g 
an

d 
hu

nt
in

g 
sk

ill
s, 

va
lu

es
, a

nd
 lo

re
 fr

om
 g

en
er

at
io

n 
to

 g
en

er
at

io
n;

 
(7

) A
 p

at
te

rn
 o

f u
se

 in
 w

hi
ch

 th
e 

ha
rv

es
t i

s s
ha

re
d 

or
 d

is
tri

bu
te

d 
w

ith
in

 a
 

de
fin

ab
le

 c
om

m
un

ity
 o

f p
er

so
ns

; a
nd

 
(8

) A
 p

at
te

rn
 o

f u
se

 w
hi

ch
 re

la
te

s t
o 

re
lia

nc
e 

up
on

 a
 w

id
e 

di
ve

rs
ity

 o
f f

is
h 

an
d 

w
ild

lif
e 

re
so

ur
ce

s o
f t

he
 a

re
a 

an
d 

w
hi

ch
 p

ro
vi

de
s s

ub
st

an
tia

l c
ul

tu
ra

l, 
ec

on
om

ic
, s

oc
ia

l, 
an

d 
nu

tri
tio

na
l e

le
m

en
ts

 to
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 o
r a

re
a.

 
Fr

eq
ue

nc
y 

Si
nc

e 
19

90
, t

he
 B

oa
rd

 h
as

 ta
ke

n 
ac

tio
n 

on
 a

bo
ut

 tw
en

ty
 8

04
 a

na
ly

se
s 

Si
nc

e 
19

90
, t

he
 B

oa
rd

 h
as

 m
ad

e 
ab

ou
t 3

00
 C

&
T 

de
te

rm
in

at
io

ns



13Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal



14 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal



15Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal

Customary and Traditional Use Determination Proposal and Rationale 
Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 

Introduction:  During the fall 2013 regular council meeting, the Council tasked the customary 
and traditional determination (C&T) workgroup with developing a region-specific proposal for 
amending the current C&T determination regulations.  The workgroup members (C. Needham, 
D. Hernandez, P. Phillips, and M. Bangs) submitted that work to the Council which adopted the 
recommendation as its own.  The Council considers it vitally important that the intent of the 
proposal be clearly communicated to the Board and other councils. 

Problem:  The current federal C&T determination regulations, including the eight factor 
analysis, were adopted from pre-existing State Regulations.  The federal program adopted this 
framework, with some differences, when it was thought that federal subsistence management 
would be temporary.  As a result of the 2009-2010 comprehensive Federal Subsistence Program 
Review, the Secretary of the Interior issued a letter of direction, with the concurrence of the 
Secretary of Agriculture, requesting that the Federal Subsistence Board “review [the] customary 
and traditional determination process to provide clear, fair, and effective determinations in 
accord with Title VIII goals and provisions (changes would require new regulations)”.  It was 
stated that this be conducted with regional advisory councils input. 

Recommended solution:  The intent of this proposed regulation change is to provide a statewide 
framework for making C&T determinations (see subpart a) while providing an option for region 
specific regulations that match particular characteristic of each region (see subpart b).  The 
proposal will also provide deference to regional councils (see subpart e). 

The Council wanted each regional council to be able to develop region specific regulations that 
suit their own region, and therefore took the approach to change the umbrella statewide 
regulation in order to do so.  Subpart b of the proposed regulation provides an opportunity for 
region specific process to be incorporated into the regulation. 

The Council’s intent for the Southeast Region would be to make very broad customary and 
traditional use determinations so that seasons on Federal public lands and waters would remain 
open to all Federally-qualified rural residents until there is a need to reduce the pool of eligible 
harvesters using the process described in ANILCA 804.  In effect, ANILCA 804 would replace 
the current Federal C&T determination eight factors with a three-criterion method of restriction 
on who can harvest a resource. 



16 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal

CURRENT LANGUAGE OF §§ .16 and .17: 
 

§242.16 Customary and traditional use determination process. 
(a) The Board shall determine which fish stocks and wildlife populations have been customarily and 

traditionally used for subsistence. These determinations shall identify the specific community's or area's 
use of specific fish stocks and wildlife populations. For areas managed by the National Park Service, 
where subsistence uses are allowed, the determinations may be made on an individual basis.  

(b) A community or area shall generally exhibit the following factors, which exemplify customary and 
traditional use. The Board shall make customary and traditional use determinations based on application 
of the following factors:  

(1) A long-term consistent pattern of use, excluding interruptions beyond the control of the 
community or area;  

(2) A pattern of use recurring in specific seasons for many years;  
(3) A pattern of use consisting of methods and means of harvest which are characterized by 

efficiency and economy of effort and cost, conditioned by local characteristics;  
(4) The consistent harvest and use of fish or wildlife as related to past methods and means of taking; 

near, or reasonably accessible from, the community or area;  
(5) A means of handling, preparing, preserving, and storing fish or wildlife which has been 

traditionally used by past generations, including consideration of alteration of past practices due to recent 
technological advances, where appropriate;  

(6) A pattern of use which includes the handing down of knowledge of fishing and hunting skills, 
values, and lore from generation to generation;  

(7) A pattern of use in which the harvest is shared or distributed within a definable community of 
persons; and  

(8) A pattern of use which relates to reliance upon a wide diversity of fish and wildlife resources of 
the area and which provides substantial cultural, economic, social, and nutritional elements to the 
community or area.  

(c) The Board shall take into consideration the reports and recommendations of any appropriate 
Regional Council regarding customary and traditional uses of subsistence resources.  

(d) Current determinations are listed in §242.24. 

§242.17 Determining priorities for subsistence uses among rural Alaska residents. 
(a) Whenever it is necessary to restrict the subsistence taking of fish and wildlife on public lands in 

order to protect the continued viability of such populations, or to continue subsistence uses, the Board 
shall establish a priority among the rural Alaska residents after considering any recommendation 
submitted by an appropriate Regional Council.  

(b) The priority shall be implemented through appropriate limitations based on the application of the 
following criteria to each area, community, or individual determined to have customary and traditional use, 
as necessary:  

(1) Customary and direct dependence upon the populations as the mainstay of livelihood;  
(2) Local residency; and  
(3) The availability of alternative resources.  

(c) If allocation on an area or community basis is not achievable, then the Board shall allocate 
subsistence opportunity on an individual basis through application of the criteria in paragraphs (b)(1) 
through (3) of this section.  

(d) In addressing a situation where prioritized allocation becomes necessary, the Board shall solicit 
recommendations from the Regional Council in the area affected. 



17Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal

Southeast Alaska Council’s Proposed Language 

(36 CFR §242.16 and 50 CFR §100.16) Customary and traditional use determination process 

(a) The Board shall determine which fish and wildlife have been customarily and 
traditionally used for subsistence within a geographic area.  When it is necessary to 
restrict the taking of fish and wildlife, and other renewable resources to assure continued 
viability of a fish or wildlife population, a priority for the taking of such population for 
non-wasteful subsistence uses shall be implemented based on the application of the 
following criteria; customary and direct dependence upon the populations as the mainstay 
of livelihood; local residency; and the availability of alternative resources.  For areas 
managed by the National Park Service, where subsistence uses are allowed, the 
determinations may be made on an individual basis. 

(b) Each region shall have the autonomy to recommend customary and traditional use 
determinations specific to that region. 

(c) The Board shall give deference to recommendations of the appropriate Regional 
Council(s).  Councils will make recommendations regarding customary and traditional 
uses of subsistence resources based on its review and evaluation of all available 
information, including relevant technical and scientific support data and the traditional 
knowledge of local residents in the region.  

(d) Current determinations are listed in § 100.24 

*NOTE:  The Council did not change §242.17, which would therefore remain in effect. 



18 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal

Proposal in edited form 
 
(36 CFR §242.16 and 50 CFR §100.16) Customary and traditional use determination process  
(a) The Board shall determine which fish stocks and wildlife populations have been customarily 
and traditionally used for subsistence within a geographic area. These determinations shall 
identify the specific community's or area's use of specific fish stocks and wildlife populations. 
When it is necessary to restrict the taking of fish and wildlife, and other renewable 
resources to assurance continued viability of a fish or wildlife population, a priority for the 
taking of such population for non-wasteful subsistence uses shall be implemented based on 
the application of the following criteria; customary and direct dependence upon the 
populations as the mainstay of livelihood; local residency; and the availability of 
alternative resources. For areas managed by the National Park Service, where subsistence uses 
are allowed, the determinations may be made on an individual basis.  
(b) A community or area shall generally exhibit the following factors, which exemplify 
customary and traditional use. The Board shall make customary and traditional use 
determinations based on application of the following factors:  

(1) A long-term consistent pattern of use, excluding interruptions beyond the control of 
the community or area;  
(2) A pattern of use recurring in specific seasons for many years;  
(3) A pattern of use consisting of methods and means of harvest which are characterized 
by efficiency and economy of effort and cost, conditioned by local characteristics;  
(4) The consistent harvest and use of fish or wildlife as related to past methods and means 
of taking; near, or reasonably accessible from, the community or area;  
(5) A means of handling, preparing, preserving, and storing fish or wildlife which has 
been traditionally used by past generations, including consideration of alteration of past 
practices due to recent technological advances, where appropriate;  
(6) A pattern of use which includes the handing down of knowledge of fishing and 
hunting skills, values, and lore from generation to generation;  
(7) A pattern of use in which the harvest is shared or distributed within a definable 
community of persons; and  
(8) A pattern of use which relates to reliance upon a wide diversity of fish and wildlife 
resources of the area and which provides substantial cultural, economic, social, and 
nutritional elements to the community or area.  

(b) Each region shall have the autonomy to recommend customary and traditional use 
determinations specific to that region. 
(c) The Board shall take into consideration the reports and recommendations of any appropriate 
Regional Council regarding customary and traditional uses of subsistence resources. The Board 
shall give deference to recommendations of the appropriate Regional Council(s).  Councils 
will make recommendations regarding customary and traditional uses of subsistence 
resources based on its review and evaluation of all available information, including 
relevant technical and scientific support data and the traditional  knowledge of local 
residents in the region.  
(d) Current determinations are listed in § 100.24



19Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council C&T Proposal

Appendix 
Southeast Alaska Council, 2011 Annual Report Topics  
Issue 1: Customary and traditional determinations  
At the March 2011 Council meeting, the Council was asked to review how the current customary 
and traditional use determination process was working. The Council observed that the Federal 
customary and traditional use determination process and the eight factor analysis is a carryover 
from State of Alaska regulation. Now that it appears the Federal program will be permanent; it 
would be appropriate to develop a Federal process based on ANILCA rather than a process 
developed to address State regulatory authorities. Unfortunately, the Office of Subsistence 
Management did not provide sufficient information to the Council regarding how the current 
customary and traditional use determination process was being applied to allow the Council to 
make definitive recommendations to the Board. The Council wishes to reiterate the 
recommendation made to the Board during the March 2011 meeting:  

Given that ANILCA does not require the Board make customary and traditional use 
determinations, the Council recommends the Federal Subsistence Board eliminate the 
current regulations for customary and traditional use determinations, and task the Office 
of Subsistence Management with drafting regulations which adhere to provisions 
contained within Section 804 of ANILCA.  

The Council reiterates support for the following specific regulatory change as recommended at 
the March 2011 meeting:  

Modify 50 CFR 100.16 (a). The regulation should read: “The Board shall determine 
which fish and wildlife have been customarily and traditionally used for subsistence. 
These determinations shall identify the specific community’s or area’s use of [specific 
fish stock and wildlife population] all species of fish and wildlife that have 
traditionally used, in their (past and present) geographic areas”.

Southeast Alaska Council, 2012 Annual Report Topics 
Issue 1: Customary and Traditional Use Determination Recommendation 
The Council believes the current method of restricting access to fish and wildlife resources 
through a customary and traditional use determination process was not intended by ANILCA.  
Although SE Council recognizes that there are a number of possible solutions to address this 
problem, it’s preferred solution is to eliminate the customary and traditional use determination 
regulations (36 CFR 242.16 and 50 CFR 100.16) and allocate resources as directed in Section 
804 of ANILCA.  The Council wrote a letter to the other Councils requesting that they 
reconsider the issue of whether the current customary and traditional use determination process 
is appropriate and is truly meeting the needs of the residents of their regions.  The Council 
requests the Board provide adequate staff resources to assist the other councils in making an 
informed decision regarding this complex issue. 

Southeast Alaska Council letter to the other Councils, January 11, 2013 
The SE Council’s preferred solution is to eliminate the customary and traditional use 
determination regulations and allocate resources as directed in Section 804 of ANILCA. 
We would like your Council to consider what would be most beneficial to your region: eliminate 
customary and traditional use determinations, change the way customary and traditional use 
determinations are made, or make no change. 



20 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Rural Review Briefing for the Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils

 

RURAL REVIEW BRIEFING FOR THE FEDERAL  
SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCILS 

In October 2009, Secretary of the Interior Salazar announced a review of the Federal subsistence 
program.  The review was intended “to ensure that the program is best serving rural Alaskans 
and that the letter and spirit of Title VIII [of ANILCA] are being met.”  Secretary Salazar, with 
the concurrence of Secretary of Agriculture Vilsack, requested that the Federal Subsistence 
Board initiate a number of actions, one of which was to develop recommendations for regulatory 
changes to the process of making rural/nonrural determinations in Alaska. 

Background

At its January 2012 public meeting, the Federal Subsistence Board elected to conduct a global 
review of the rural/nonrural determination process, starting with public and Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council input.  Logically, the global review required the Board to stay its 2007 final 
rule, whose rural provisions would otherwise have gone into effect in May 2012.  The Board 
determined that the 1991 rural/nonrural determinations would remain in place pending the 
outcome of its review of the rural determination process (77 FR 12477).  The conclusion of the 
review, and the determinations of rural status, must be completed by March 2017. 

Two areas of Alaska—the community of Saxman and the Kenai Peninsula—have proven 
difficult for the Board to categorize under the current rural determination process. The Board has 
gone back and forth on whether these locations should be rural or non-rural.  Based on the 
Secretaries’ directive  and these high-profile back and forth changes in rural status using the 
current rural determination process, the Board decided to engage in a year-long, public review of 
the current process.  In December 31, 2012, the Board identified five elements in the rural 
determination process for public review (77 FR 77005):  population thresholds; rural 
characteristics; aggregation of communities; timelines, and information sources.  The Board 
posed eight general questions for public input concerning these five elements, and one question 
requesting any additional information.  The comment period was open to November 1, 2013, 
which was extended to December 2, 2013 because of the partial federal government shutdown in 
October.

The Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils were briefed on the Federal Register notice during 
their winter 2013 meetings.  At their fall 2013 meetings, the Councils provided a public forum to 
hear from residents of their regions, deliberate on the rural determination process, and provide 
recommendations for changes to the Board. 

Testimonies from members of the public were also recorded during separate hearings held to 
solicit comments on the rural determination process.  The Board held hearings in Barrow, 
Ketchikan, Sitka, Kodiak, Bethel, Anchorage, Fairbanks, Kotzebue, Nome, and Dillingham.   
Government-to-government consultations on the rural determination process were held between 
members of the Board and Tribes, and additional consultations were held between members of 
the Board and Alaska Native corporations formed under the Alaska Native Claims Settlement 
Act.



21Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Rural Review Briefing for the Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils

 

In aggregate, the Board received 475 substantive comments from various sources, including 
individual citizens, members of regional advisory councils, and other entities or organizations, 
such as non-profit Alaska Native corporations and borough governments. 

Based on Council and public comments, government-to-government and Alaska Native 
corporation consultations, and briefing materials from the Office of Subsistence Management 
(see “Review of the Rural Determination Process” briefing following this update), the Board 
developed a recommendation that simplifies the process of rural/nonrural determinations, as 
shown below.

Federal Subsistence Board Recommendation 

The Board will be recommending to the Secretaries to make the following change in Secretarial 
regulations:

§100.15 and §242.15. Rural determination process. 
(a) The Board shall determine which areas or communities in Alaska are nonrural. 
(b) All other communities and areas are therefore rural. 

The Board also recommended eliminating from Secretarial regulation the specific criteria 
previously relied upon by the Board in making rural determinations: population thresholds, the 
population data sources, rural characteristics, community aggregation, and the ten-year review. 

Next Steps 

If the Secretaries adopt the Board’s recommendation, a series of steps are required in order to 
meet the March 2017 deadline.  

 The Secretaries may decide to propose a rule to change the current rural determination 
process, based on the Board’s recommendation.  The Secretaries would need to act on 
this recommendation because it affects 36 CFR 242 Subpart B, and 50 CFR 100 Subpart 
B, which are under Secretarial purview. The public, Regional Advisory Councils, Tribes 
and Alaska Native corporations would have the opportunity to comment or consult during 
that rule-making process.   

 The Secretaries could then decide to publish a final rule specifying the rural/non rural 
determination process. The revised process appears in Subpart B of subsistence 
regulations, under Secretarial authority. 

 The Board uses that rule to make rural/nonrural determinations, publishing those 
determinations in a proposed rule.  The public, Regional Advisory Councils, Tribes and 
Alaska Native corporations would have the opportunity to comment or consult during 
that rule-making process. 

 The Board then publishes a final rule with the revised rural/nonrural determinations.  The 
revised rural/nonrural determinations appear in Subpart C of subsistence regulations, 
under Board authority. 

 If no new rule making is completed by March 1, 2017, specifying rural/nonrural 
determinations, then the 2007 rule will become enforceable.  



22 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

1 
 

Review of the Rural Determination Process 

A Briefing for the Federal Subsistence Board 

April 15, 2014 

Background

The Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (ANILCA), Title VIII, Section 802 asserts that “the 
purpose of this title is to provide the opportunity for rural residents engaged in a subsistence way of life to 
do so.” 

In drafting ANILCA, however, the Congress did not define the term “rural.” 

Senate Report No. 96-413, which comments on Title VIII, provides examples of cities excluded from 
rural status—“Ketchikan, Juneau, Anchorage, and Fairbanks”—and examples of communities that are 
rural—“such as Dillingham, Bethel, Nome, Kotzebue, Barrow, and other Native and non-Native villages 
scattered throughout the State.”  The Senate Report further indicates the dynamic nature of rural 
communities and the inevitability of change: “[T]he Committee does not intend to imply that the rural 
nature of such communities is a static condition: the direction of the economic development and rural 
character of such communities may change over time.”  Such change is not necessarily from rural to 
nonrural; it may also be from nonrural to rural. 

Secretarial Review 

In October 2009, the Secretary of the Interior initiated a Subsistence Program Review; the Secretary of 
Agriculture later concurred with this course of action.  The review concluded, among other things, that 
the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) should review the process for rural determinations, with input 
from the Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils (Council).  If needed, the Board should then make 
recommendations to the Secretary of the Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture for changes to the 
process for rural determinations.  

Federal Subsistence Board Review 

At its January 17-21, 2012 public meeting, the Federal Subsistence Board elected to conduct a global 
review of the rural/nonrural determination process. The review started with recommendations from the 
Regional Advisory Councils, comments from the public, and consultations with Tribes and ANCSA 
Corporations.  With the review underway, the Board stayed the 2007 final rule, in which rural 
determinations would have otherwise come into effect in May 2012.  The Board determined that the 1991 
rural/nonrural determinations would remain in place pending the outcome of its review of the rural 
determination process.  Adak was the singular exception, whose status changed from nonrural to rural in 
2007. 

Federal Register Notice 

In a Federal Register notice, published December 31, 2012 (77 FR 77005), the Board identified five 
elements in the rural determination process for public review:  Population thresholds; rural characteristics; 



23Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

2 
 

aggregation of communities; timelines, and information sources.  The Board posed eight general 
questions for members of the public to consider regarding these five elements and one question requesting 
any additional information on how to make the process more effective. 

Population thresholds.  A community or area with a population below 2,500 will be considered rural.  A 
community or area with a population between 2,500 and 7,000 will be considered rural or nonrural, based 
on community characteristics and criteria used to group communities together.  Communities with 
populations more than 7,000 will be considered nonrural, unless they possess significant rural 
characteristics.  In 2008, the Board recommended to the Secretaries that the upper population threshold be 
changed to 11,000.   

(1) Are these population threshold guidelines useful for determining whether a specific area of Alaska is 
rural?

(2) If they are not, please provide population size(s) to distinguish between rural and nonrural areas, and 
the reasons for the population size you believe more accurately reflects rural and nonrural areas in 
Alaska.

Rural characteristics.  Population is not the only indicator of rural or nonrural status.  Other 
characteristics the Board considers include, but are not limited to, the following:  Use of fish and wildlife; 
development and diversity of the economy; community infrastructure; transportation; and educational 
institutions.

(3) Are these characteristics useful for determining whether a specific area of Alaska is rural? 

(4) If they are not, please provide a list of characteristics that better define or enhance rural and nonrural 
status.

Aggregation of communities.  Communities that are economically, socially, and communally integrated 
are considered in the aggregate in determining rural and nonrural status.  The aggregation criteria are as 
follows:  Do 30 percent or more of the working people commute from one community to another; do they 
share a common high school attendance area; and are the communities in proximity and road-accessible 
to one another? 

(5) Are these aggregation criteria useful in determining rural and nonrural status? 

(6) If they are not, please provide a list of criteria that better specify how communities may be integrated 
economically, socially, and communally for the purposes of determining rural and nonrural status. 

Timelines.  The Board reviews rural determinations on a 10-year cycle, and out of cycle in special 
circumstances. 

(7) Should the Board review rural determinations on a 10-year cycle?  If so, why; if not, why not? 

Information sources.  Current regulations state that population data from the most recent census 
conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau, as updated by the Alaska Department of Labor, shall be utilized in 
the rural determination process.  The information collected and the reports generated during the decennial 
census vary between each census; data used during the Board’s rural determination may vary. 



24 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

3 
 

(8) These information sources as stated in regulations will continue to be the foundation of data used for 
rural determinations.  Do you have any additional sources you think would be beneficial to use? 

(9) In addition to the preceding questions, do you have any additional comments on how to make the 
rural determination process more effective? 

Opportunities to Participate 

The public comment period for the review of the rural determination process opened December 31, 2012 
and closed on December 2, 2013. The original public notice closed the comment period November 1, 
2013; the extension was posted as a result of the partial government shutdown in October 2013. 

The Councils were briefed on the public notice during their winter 2013 meetings.  At their fall 2013 
meetings, the Councils provided a public forum to hear from the residents of their regions, deliberate on 
rural determination processes, and provide recommendations for changes to the Board. 

Testimonies from members of the public were recorded during hearings held to solicit comments on the 
rural determination process.  Hearings occurred in Barrow, Ketchikan, Sitka, Kodiak, Bethel, Anchorage, 
Fairbanks, Kotzebue, Nome, and Dillingham.  A PowerPoint presentation and time for discussion and 
dialogue on specific questions were provided prior to each hearing. 

Government-to-government consultations on the rural determination process were held between members 
of the Board and Tribes.  Formal consultations were held between members of the Board and Alaska 
Native Claims Settlement Act (ANCSA) corporations. 

Summary of Recommendations from Regional Advisory Councils 

The Councils provided several comments about population thresholds. Few Councils made specific 
recommendations regarding the current population threshold criteria, noting rather that they were 
generally arbitrary.  One Council recommended the presumptive rural threshold be increased to 11,000. 
One Council suggested the presumptive non-rural threshold should be increased to 20,000.  Several noted 
that rural characteristics should be weighed more heavily than population thresholds.  Only one Council 
expressed support for the current population thresholds. 

The Councils provided many comments about aggregation.  Four Councils suggested eliminating 
aggregation.  Most Councils noted that the current application of aggregation is arbitrary and produces 
inconsistent results.  One Council suggested that communities need to be provided better opportunities to 
demonstrate whether or not any aggregation factors are applicable.  Other Councils noted that any 
increase of population due to outside development (i.e., mines, military bases) should not be aggregated. 
Additionally, one Council noted that 30 percent of working people commuting from one community to 
another was too low of a threshold to aggregate those communities, and communities that show a high 
reliance on fish and wildlife should not be aggregated.  

The Councils provided most of their comments on the rural characteristics.  The Councils 
recommended numerous additional criteria to consider for rural characteristics.  More than one Council 
noted the importance of cultural and spiritual factors that should be considered, and that geographic 
remoteness and isolation should be considered.  One Council suggested removing educational institutions 



25Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

4 
 

and not including any infrastructure that is constructed for temporary use.  One Council noted that 
gardening and whether a community is a “resident zone community” under National Park Service 
regulations were indicative of rural characteristics.  Two Councils noted that not being connected to the 
road system should be an automatic qualifier for rural status.  Some Councils recommended that the 
Board give substantially more weight to rural characteristics than to population thresholds, and the use of 
fish and wildlife should be accorded the most weight among rural characteristics. 

The Councils provided several comments about the rural review timeline.  Most Councils recommended 
the Board move to completely eliminate the 10-year review.  Five Councils specifically suggested that a 
review should only be conducted if there has been a significant change, for example if a community’s 
population has substantially increased or decreased since the last determination.  One Council suggested 
that when a review is conducted, it should be made using a 5-year average to avoid temporary population 
spikes.  Several Councils said the 10-year review is stressful on communities and a waste of time, 
finances, and resources.  Only one Council supported maintaining the current 10-year review. 

The Councils made few comments about what sources of information to use in the process.  Most 
Councils supported the use of the U.S. Census data, but provided additional suggestions for data sources 
such as Tribal databases, harvest reports, property taxes, and the Alaska Permanent Fund Dividend 
registry. 

Councils provided some recommendations for how the Board could otherwise improve the process, 
including allowing rural residents to remain Federally-qualified subsistence users if they move to a non-
rural area purely for economic reasons (e.g., employment).  One Council suggested that verification of the 
rural nature of such individuals could occur by confirming registration with a local Tribal Council (i.e., 
IRA).  Other Councils noted there needs to be more transparency and clarity in how the Federal 
Subsistence Board arrives at its rural determinations.  The Councils noted that their recommendations on 
rural status should be given deference by the Board. 

Summary of Public Comments 

The Board received 475 substantive comments from various sources, including individual citizens, 
members of regional advisory councils, and other entities or organizations (e.g., non-profit Native 
corporations, borough governments).  This section of the briefing does not include results of Tribal 
consultations.  The comments of members of the regional advisory councils include both 
recommendations made by motion and vote and recommendations made during the course of discussions 
among council members. 

One analyst reviewed each comment for specific suggestions and recommendations made to the Board.  
Appendix A contains detailed results of the analysis of public comments. 

The Board received 101 comments about population thresholds.  Most recommended that the Board move 
to completely eliminate the use of population thresholds because these are arbitrarily and inconsistently 
applied by agencies.  Many recommended replacing population thresholds with more appropriate 
community characteristics.  Some recommended that the upper population threshold be increased from 
7,000 to a number in the range 10,000 to 30,000.  Few indicated general support for using population 
thresholds. Some recommended doing something else regarding population. 



26 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

5 
 

The Board received 114 comments about rural characteristics.  Most recommended that the Board either 
add or eliminate characteristics; some recommended a combination of both.  Some recommended that the 
Board give substantially more weight to rural characteristics than to population thresholds.  Few indicated 
support for the current list of rural characteristics.  Some recommended doing something else regarding 
rural characteristics. 

The Board received 90 comments about aggregation.  Most recommended the Board completely eliminate 
aggregation.  Many recommended the Board change how it does aggregation.  Some indicated that 
aggregation eliminates the subsistence priority for some communities.  Some indicated that the concept of 
aggregation is too confusing to be useful.  Few indicated support for the current aggregation criteria.  A 
few recommended doing something else regarding aggregation. 

The Board received 66 comments about the rural review timeline.  Most recommended the Board move to 
completely eliminate the 10-year review.  Some said the 10-year review is a stressful burden on 
communities and a waste of time and resources.  Some indicated support for doing a 10-year review. 
Others recommended the timeline for review be increased. 

The Board received 42 comments about what sources of information to use in the process.  Some 
recommended the Board use Tribal consultation as a primary source of information.  Others 
recommended giving deference to the regional advisory councils on the rural status of their communities.  
A few recommended the Board rely more on community feedback.  Few indicated support for using the 
2010 Census data.  Many recommended using other sources of information such as the Wolfe and Fischer 
report and subsistence harvest surveys. 

The Board received 60 comments recommending how it could otherwise improve the process, including 
eliminating the rural/non-rural label, extending the comment period, deferring to the regional advisory 
councils, and redefining the process as an issue of food security and health. 

Formal Consultations with Tribes and ANCSA Corporations 

Three consultations were held telephonically with Tribes and ANCSA corporations on the rural 
determination process1.

A total of 20 Tribes, three Tribal or village associations, and 12 ANCSA corporations participated with 
Federal staff, Board members, and their designees in consultations on the rural determination process.  
Some of those on the telephone only listened and did not directly discuss the rural determination process.  
This section includes those who spoke on the record.  A Board member or their designee provided a wrap 
up of each call to validate that the consultation was accurately recorded. 

Summary of Tribal Consultation

The Tribes that participated generally recommended that the revised rural process should allow Tribal 
members living in nonrural areas to return to their villages to gather subsistence foods.  Economic factors 

                                                            
1 There will be an opportunity for face-to-face consultation with Tribes and ANCSA corporations at the April 15 Federal 
Subsistence Board meeting. 



27Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

6 
 

cause them to live in non-rural areas, but they still need to access their traditional foods.  Several callers 
requested a Native preference for subsistence needs. 

The Native Village of Kotzebue.  The Native Village of Kotzebue pointed out that ANILCA only 
defines or mentions rural, not non-rural, and wondered why this was part of the dialogue. 

The Native Village of Kotzebue said that population thresholds are arbitrary and therefore should not be 
used to trigger a review of a communities’ rural status.  Rural characteristics are more important in the 
process than population thresholds.  Instead, the Board should develop a different trigger for initiating 
rural reviews.  For example, the Board could begin rural reviews based on a change in community 
characteristics or other issues that have become common knowledge to federal or state subsistence 
managers.

The Kenaitze Tribe.  The Kenaitze Tribe’s area, with its non-rural status, makes it difficult for Tribal 
members to subsist. The Kenaitze Tribe is now in a position in which applying for Federal and State 
grants has become necessary to assist their community.  The Tribe expressed concern about the 2,500 
population threshold.  The Tribe thought that unless a community is connected to a road system it should 
remain rural.  The Kenaitze Tribe requested that population thresholds be eliminated and other 
characteristics should be used to define rural because the population numbers appear to be an arbitrary 
means of determination. 

The Kenaitze Tribe conducted a needs assessment to help it define subsistence use, schooling, 
employment, and medical needs, which could be used to help the Board make a recommendation to the 
Secretaries.  Board member Sue Masica was interested in this information, and felt the Board should 
consider how different the Kenaitze are from the rest of the Kenai population.   

The Kenaitze Tribe proposed an exemption to the rural determination process for all Tribal members.  It 
feels that Tribal people have been denied fishing opportunities, which threatens the very heart of who 
they are. The Tribe stated, “The rural determination process focuses on customary and traditional use as a 
geographic area.  This is flawed logic.  Customary and traditional people and their customary and 
traditional use should be considered, rather than the geographic boundaries.” 

The Sun’aq Tribe.  The Sun’aq Tribe stated that other departments of the Federal government have 
looked into the definition of rural.  A number of provisions have allowed for rural enclaves within an 
urban area.  The caller felt that this concept should be further explored. 

The Sun’aq Tribe also had a question about the entire timeline for the rural determination process:  At 
what point will the Federal Subsistence Board decide what they are going to recommend to the 
Secretaries?  What’s next?  

Native Villages of Napaskiak and Napakiak. The Native Village of Napaskiak requested to be exempt 
from all rural determinations. The Native Village of Napakiak supported this position. 



28 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

7 
 

The Knik Tribe.  The Knik Tribe said the discussion should focus on 50 CFR 100.15.  It also supported 
the comments of the Kenaitze Tribe.  The Knik Tribe recommended the Board consider the U.S. Census-
mapped Alaska Native village areas to be exempt from the rural determination process. 

Native Village of St. Mary’s.  The Native Village of St. Mary’s said that subsistence resources are 
affected by the size of the community relying on them plus those harvesters from outside areas.  The 
Native Village of St. Mary’s thought that population thresholds may be useful.  It supported a Tribal 
rights stance.   It also said that smaller communities along the river most likely will remain rural, but 
Bethel could get large enough that it could lose its status if the process is not changed. 

Summary of Consultations with ANCSA Corporations 

Bethel Native Corporation.  The representative from the Bethel Native Corporation (BNC) stated that 
most local villages that are close to each other do not want to be grouped together in a rural determination 
scenario.  BNC requested that representatives from the Federal Subsistence Program speak to the State on 
behalf of rural communities and their current rural determinations. 

BNC requested that the upper population threshold be changed from 7,000 to 12,000.  BNC was in favor 
of the 10-year review.  It recommended using the State of Alaska subsistence food survey and 150 pounds 
per person per year as a minimum threshold for subsistence food usage necessary to be rural. 

Sealaska. The Sealaska Corporation urged the Board to immediately act to reinstate Saxman's rural 
status and that of other similarly situated communities and review their status as rural or non-rural based 
on their independent characteristics in the ongoing Secretarial review.  Since the Board has already 
extended a compliance date for the change in status required by the 2007 Final Rule, reinstating Saxman’s 
rural status would have no administrative impact.  It would however eliminate the need for Saxman to file 
a lawsuit challenging the 2007 Final Rule, which it will have to do by July 2014, long before the 
completion of the ongoing review.  This would be a very simple solution and would save both the Federal 
government and the Native Village of Saxman the costs involved in litigation. 

Sealaska recommended that the Board take into consideration the cultural integrity and cultural practices 
around subsistence that rural communities and native people have and look at the social integration 
among community members.  In Southeast Alaska there is a communal system, a Clan system, a House 
system that integrates their communities, and this is particularly evident in the community of Saxman. 

Sealaska advised the Board to look at the spiritual relationship that Native people have to their wildlife. 
The State of Alaska and the courts have already recognized that there are religious and spiritual 
dimension to subsistence hunting and fishing among Native peoples. 

Sealaska recommended that the Board look at the distribution systems or the sharing of fish and wildlife 
that goes on in Native communities.  It is anything but an individually-based activity. 
Sealaska emphasized that the Federal government is in the position to protect a subsistence way of life 
and the trust responsibility between the federal government and Alaska Native peoples.  It felt the rural 
characteristics are a crucial definition of a rural community and that the population numbers are an 



29Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

8 
 

arbitrary measure of what is or is not rural.  Aggregation of communities, commuting, and the sharing of 
a high school are inappropriate measures of a community’s rural status.  It felt that the presence of a 
Federally-recognized Tribe in the community should carry weight in the rural determination process. 

Alternatives to the Current Rural Determination Process 

The Interagency Staff Committee and Office of Subsistence Management staff developed a list of six 
alternatives, based on recommendations from the Councils, consultation with Tribes and ANCSA 
corporations, and comments from the public.  The alternatives are as follows (Appendix B). 

1. No change to the current process. 
2. No change, except eliminate the 10-year review. 
3. No change, except eliminate the 10-year review, increase the upper population threshold to 

11,000, and add geographic remoteness and isolation to the list of rural characteristics. 
4. Define “rural” as communities or areas with a population less than 15,000, using current 

aggregations.
5. Define “rural” as communities or areas with a population less than 15,000, using current 

aggregations, with the exception of the Southcentral area, for which current rural determinations 
will remain in regulation. 

6. Identify specific communities and areas as nonrural; all other communities and areas are therefore 
rural.  These determinations will be made by the Secretaries of the Interior and Agriculture in 
Subpart B of Subsistence Management Regulations for Public Lands in Alaska. 

Next Steps 

 The Board may decide to forward to the Secretaries recommendations for improving the rural 
determination process. 

 The Secretaries may decide to propose a rule to change the current rural determination process, 
based on the Board’s recommendations; the public, Councils, Tribes, and ANCSA corporations 
would have the opportunity to comment or consult during that rule-making process. 

 The Secretaries would publish a final rule specifying the rural determination process. 
 If the Secretaries did publish a final rule specifying a different process to be used, the Board 

would use it to make rural determinations (except in the case of Alternative 6), publishing those 
determinations in a proposed rule; the public, Councils, Tribes, and ANCSA corporations would 
have the opportunity to comment or consult on that proposed rule. 

 The Board could then publish a final rule with the revised determinations as to the rural status of 
communities or areas; if no new rule making is done by March 1, 2017, the 2007 rule would 
become enforceable.



30 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

9 
 

Appendix A 

Synthesis of Public Comments on the Rural Determination Process 

Staff at the Office of Subsistence Management read appropriate public transcripts and letters 
containing comments about the rural determination process; populated a database with the 
comments; and placed the comments into the five elements (i.e., categories) described in the 
Federal Register notice (77 FR 77005) dated December 31, 2012. We added “other” as a 
category to capture comments that addressed question number nine in the notice and other 
comments that did not specifically address one of the five elements. 

The staff input 496 total public comments into the database; 475 were determined to be 
substantive. By substantive, we mean comments that meaningfully addressed the rural 
determination process and made concrete recommendations to the Federal Subsistence Board 
(Board). 

The Board received 278 comments from individual citizens representing the public, 137 
comments from members of subsistence regional advisory councils, 37 comments from Alaska 
Native entities, and 25 comments from other entities (e.g., city and borough governments). 
Comments from members of the regional advisory councils include both recommendations 
formally made by motion and vote and recommendations made in the course of discussions and 
deliberations among council members prior to a formal motion.   

This appendix is a synthesis of the public comments. It does not include results from formal 
consultations with Tribes and ANCSA corporations, which are separate from public comments. 
A single analyst reviewed all public comments in the database and wrote a brief analysis of each 
substantive comment. The analyses primarily focused on concise recommendations made to the 
Board concerning each of the five categories. The analyst grouped each recommendation into 
subcategories for each category, including the other category. 



31Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

10 
 

Population Thresholds 

The Board received 101 substantive comments about population thresholds, subdivided into four 
types of recommendations:  

In 52 comments, respondents recommended that the Board move to eliminate the use of 
population thresholds because these are inadequate in the context of most Alaskan communities, 
arbitrarily and inconsistently applied by federal agencies, and lack empirical evidence to support 
their use in making rural determinations. Many of these comments strongly recommended that 
the Board replace population thresholds with more appropriate rural and/or community 
characteristics, both qualitative and quantitative. Respondents thought that these would better 
reflect the nature of communities in Alaska. The characteristics listed include: 

 geographical remoteness 
 isolation 
 annual income 
 unemployment rate 
 distance to urban markets 
 a community’s history of subsistence use 
 other holistic cultural, political, social, and economic characteristics 

In 22 comments, respondents recommended that the current, upper population threshold be 
raised from 7,000 to a number in the range of 10,000 to 30,000. Specific suggestions included 
11,000, 15,000, 20,000, and 25,000. 

Seventeen comments recommended the Board do something else regarding population 
thresholds, including: 

51%

22%

17%
10% Do Not Use Population

Thresholds
Increase Current Thresholds

Other

Support Current Thresholds



32 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

11 
 

 Adopt and apply the rural development thresholds used by U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, which range from 2,500 to 50,000. 

 Use the Permanent Fund Dividend population numbers. 
 Exclude increases in populations due to industrial developments such as mining. 
 Enhance monitoring of natural population growth for individual communities. 
 Use population densities. 

Ten comments indicated general support for using population thresholds in the rural 
determination process. 

Rural Characteristics 

The Board received 114 substantive comments about rural characteristics, subdivided into four 
types of recommendations: 

In 75 comments, respondents recommended that the Board change the list of rural characteristics 
that it applies in the rural determination process. These comments contained requests to add or 
eliminate rural characteristics from the current list, some requested doing both. For example, 
some suggested that the Board add “geographical remoteness” and “subsistence use patterns” 
and eliminate diversity of economy; community infrastructure; transportation; and educational 
institutions. 

No comments indicated a desire to remove use of fish and wildlife from the list, however some 
recommended that it be changed to “use of fish and wildlife for subsistence.” A written comment 
from a tribal government told the Board “subsistence use of fish and wildlife is the one essential 
crux of Title VIII of the Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (ANILCA) and is 

66%

18%

12%

4%

Change Characteristics

Other

Rural Characteristics Trump
Population

Support Current
Characteristics



33Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

12 
 

synonymous with the definition of rural in Alaska; use of fish and wildlife as a land use category 
is essential in any rural determination process used by the Board now and in the future.” 

Other additions to the list of rural characteristics included: 

 diversity of subsistence resources available 
 cost of living and inflation rates 
 spiritual, cultural, and ceremonial practices of people who have a subsistence way of life 
 community identity 
 patterns of boom and bust cycles over time 
 access to cell phone and Internet services 
 production and use of wild foods 
 traditional practices of sharing, bartering, and gift giving 
 a community’s customary and traditional uses of resources in its area 
 presence of an organized tribal government 
 proximity to urban areas and available services such as medical care 
 patterns of reciprocity and dependence on one another for survival 
 length of time in a place/duration of existence in a place 
 gardening

In 14 comments, respondents recommended the Board give substantially greater weight to rural 
community characteristics than it gives to population thresholds when making rural 
determinations. 

Twenty-one comments recommended that the Board do something else regarding rural 
characteristics, including: 

 Weight rural and/or community characteristics as the most important criterion. 
 Weight “use of fish and wildlife” as the most important rural characteristic. 
 Designate all island communities rural. 
 Adapt and use some of the rural characteristics used by the State of Alaska (e.g., extent of 

sharing of subsistence resources). 
 Adopt and apply the rural characteristics outlined in Wolfe and Fischer (2003). 
 Do not apply one-size-fits-all criteria across communities. 
 Use the three criteria in Section 804 of ANILCA as rural characteristics. 

Four comments indicated general support for applying the current list of rural characteristics. 



34 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

13 
 

Aggregation of Communities 

The Board received 90 substantive comments about aggregation, subdivided into six types of 
recommendations: 

In 36 comments, respondents recommended the Board move to completely eliminate aggregation 
from the rural determination process. Many indicated that the current method of aggregation is 
biased and inappropriate. In general, these respondents recommended that the Board evaluate 
communities based on their unique histories and individual sets of characteristics.  

In 28 comments, respondents recommended the Board change how it applies the concept of 
aggregation. Suggestions included: 

 Only apply aggregation where a large urban center is closely connected to smaller 
communities located beyond its municipal boundaries. 

 Determine how population influxes due to mining, oil, and/or military developments 
affect the current aggregation criteria. 

 Do not aggregate communities just because they are connected by road. 
 Do not aggregate any community that has its own city council. 
 Do not aggregate any community that has a federally-recognized tribe. 
 Only aggregate communities that are physically linked to urban centers by highway. 
 Eliminate all the criteria used for aggregating communities because these are not useful 

for demonstrating a community’s rural characteristics. 
 Increase the percentage of working people commuting from 30 to 50 percent. 
 Only eliminate the commuting for work criterion. 
 Only eliminate the sharing of a common high school criterion. 
 Do not use the current criteria alone; use these in conjunction with communities’ 

histories, demographics, and political divisions. 

34%

31%

15%

10%
7%

3%
Do Not Aggregate

Change Aggregation Method

Aggregation Removes
Subsistence Priority
Other

Concept Confusing

Support Aggregation Criteria



35Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

14 
 

 Defer to the knowledge and insights of the regional advisory councils when deciding 
which aggregation criteria to apply. 

Thirteen comments indicated that aggregation takes away the subsistence priority of some 
communities, which is legally protected under ANILCA Title VIII. 

Six comments indicated that some people find the concept of aggregation to be confusing, both 
in how the concept is applied and the word is defined. 

Three comments indicated support for applying the current list of aggregation criteria. 

Four comments recommended that the Board do something else regarding aggregation such as 
carefully consider the impacts of aggregation on subsistence practices such as trading and 
sharing. 

Timelines

The Board received 66 substantive comments about the rural review timeline, subdivided into 
four types of recommendations: 

In 30 comments, respondents recommended the Board completely eliminate the 10-year review 
of rural status. As reflected by 18 comments, the main rationale for eliminating the 10-year 
review is because it is viewed as a stressful burden on communities and a waste of time and 
resources for both communities and federal agencies. 

Eleven comments indicated support for doing a 10-year review. In five comments, respondents 
recommended that the timeline for review be increased (e.g., 15-year intervals, 100-year 
intervals, review rural determinations only when a community’s population exceeds the upper 
threshold). 

47%

28%

17%
8%

Eliminate 10‐year Review

10‐year Review is a Burden

Support 10‐year Review

Increase Timeline



36 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

15 
 

Two comments recommended that the Board do something else regarding timelines (i.e., 
decrease the interval between rural reviews, make rural status permanent unless a substantial 
change warrants otherwise). 

Information Sources 

The Board received 42 substantive comments about what sources of information to use in the 
process, subdivided into five types of recommendations: 

In 11comments, respondents recommended the Board use tribal consultation as a primary source 
of information for making rural determinations. 

Five comments recommended relying on the knowledge of the regional advisory councils by 
giving them deference concerning the rural status of the communities they represent. 

Five respondents recommended using feedback from the affected communities as a primary 
source of information (e.g., ask community residents what they think makes their community 
rural and what would have to change before they would consider their community to be non-
rural). 

In 18 comments, respondents recommended that the Board use other sources of information such 
as:

 the intent of ANILCA Title VIII 
 Wolfe and Fischer (2003) 
 Permanent Fund Dividend database 
 State of Alaska regulations 
 subsistence harvest surveys conducted in a systematic and scientific manner 

Three comments indicated support for using the 2010 Census data. 

43%

26%

12%

12%
7%

Other

Tribal Consultation

RAC Members' Knowledge

Community Feedback

2010 Census Data



37Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

16 
 

Other Recommendations 

The Board received 60 substantive comments recommending something be done to otherwise 
improve the process, subdivided into four types of recommendations: 

In 30 comments, respondents recommended how the Board should improve the rural 
determination process. Suggestions included: 

 Eliminate the state-wide approach; replace it with a region-by-region approach because 
the regional advisory councils are only qualified to talk about their regions. 

 Provide more time for formal tribal consultation and public participation. 
 Improve communication, outreach, and education for the regional advisory councils and 

the public. 
 Apply “rural plus Native” or tribal affiliation for deciding who has subsistence priority. 
 Adapt and apply the process used by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 

Administration and the National Marine Fisheries Service for subsistence halibut harvest. 
 Consider health and nutrition in the process. 
 Host meetings on rural determinations in rural communities outside of hub cities and 

urban centers. 
 Use only one process for making rural determinations; the dual system is too burdensome 

for subsistence harvesters. 
 Apply improved social science data and analyses in the process to account for dynamic 

cultural identities. 
 Abandon the state’s system of Game Management Units on federal public lands because 

it prevents a fair and accurate rural determination process. 
 Remove legal constraints. 
 Make the results of tribal consultation available to the regional advisory councils before 

they are asked to deliberate on the process. 

50%

27%

17%
6%

Improve the Process

Other

Eliminate Rural/Urban Split

Extend Comment Period



38 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

17 
 

 Apply the Criterion-Referenced Assessment Method outlined by Wolfe and Fischer 
(2003).

 Consider fish and wildlife populations in the rural determination process. 
 Consider various definitions of rural as used by other agencies. 

In10 comments, respondents recommended completely eliminating the rural/non-rural dualistic 
label because it threatens the subsistence priority of many Alaskan communities and the ways of 
life of many Alaska Native peoples. 

In16 comments, respondents recommended doing something else, including: 

 Give deference to the regional advisory councils. 
 Redefine the rural determination process as an issue of food security and health. 
 Adopt and use an Alaskan Native priority with international declarations on the rights of 

indigenous people.
 Use a point system or similar metric to determine rural status. 

Four respondents recommended extending the comment period because more time is needed to 
provide meaningful input and recommendations about the rural determination process used by 
the Board. 



39Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

18
 

 

A
pp

en
di

x 
B

.  
A

lte
rn

at
iv

es
 fo

r 
th

e 
R

ur
al

 D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n 

Pr
oc

es
s

A
lte

rn
at

iv
e*

 
Sh

or
t S

um
m

ar
y 

R
el

at
io

ns
hi

p 
to

 C
om

m
en

ts
 

Pr
os

 
C

on
s 

1 
N

o 
ch

an
ge

. 
M

os
t c

om
m

en
ts

 su
gg

es
t v

ar
io

us
 

ch
an

ge
s t

o 
th

e 
cu

rr
en

t p
ro

ce
ss

; a
 

fe
w

 c
om

m
en

ts
 su

gg
es

t m
ak

in
g 

no
 c

ha
ng

es
 to

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
s. 

M
ai

nt
ai

ns
 c

on
tin

ui
ty

 w
ith

 c
ur

re
nt

 
pr

oc
es

s. 
 F

ew
 re

su
lts

 o
f r

ur
al

 st
at

us
 

de
te

rm
in

at
io

ns
 h

av
e 

be
en

 
co

nt
ro

ve
rs

ia
l.

W
id

el
y 

pe
rc

ei
ve

d 
as

 fl
aw

ed
. H

as
 re

su
lte

d 
in

 a
 fe

w
 c

on
tro

ve
rs

ia
l d

et
er

m
in

at
io

ns
, 

su
ch

 a
s S

ax
m

an
 a

nd
 th

e 
K

en
ai

 P
en

in
su

la
. 

R
eq

ui
re

s a
 p

er
io

di
c 

re
vi

ew
 e

ve
n 

w
he

n 
th

er
e 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
no

 c
ha

ng
e.

 
2 

N
o 

ch
an

ge
, e

xc
ep

t 
el

im
in

at
e 

10
-y

ea
r 

re
vi

ew
. 

M
an

y 
co

m
m

en
ts

 su
gg

es
t t

ha
t a

 
re

vi
ew

 sh
ou

ld
 h

ap
pe

n 
on

ly
 in

 
th

e 
ev

en
t o

f s
ub

st
an

tia
l c

ha
ng

e 
to

 a
 c

om
m

un
ity

 o
r a

re
a.

  1
0-

ye
ar

 
re

vi
ew

 is
 a

 st
re

ss
fu

l b
ur

de
n 

on
 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 a
nd

 a
 w

as
te

 o
f 

go
ve

rn
m

en
t r

es
ou

rc
es

.  

El
im

in
at

in
g 

re
vi

ew
 a

lle
vi

at
es

 
an

xi
et

y 
of

 a
 1

0-
ye

ar
 re

vi
ew

 a
m

on
g 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

. R
ed

uc
es

 p
er

io
di

ca
lly

 
tim

e-
co

ns
um

in
g 

an
d 

re
du

nd
an

t s
ta

ff
 

w
or

k.

W
ou

ld
 li

ke
ly

 c
on

tin
ue

 to
 b

e 
w

id
el

y 
pe

rc
ei

ve
d 

as
 fl

aw
ed

. 

3 
N

o 
ch

an
ge

, e
xc

ep
t 

el
im

in
at

e 
10

-y
ea

r 
re

vi
ew

, i
nc

re
as

e 
up

pe
r p

op
ul

at
io

n 
th

re
sh

ol
d 

to
 

11
,0

00
, a

nd
 a

dd
 

ge
og

ra
ph

ic
re

m
ot

en
es

s a
nd

 
is

ol
at

io
n 

to
 th

e 
lis

t 
of

 ru
ra

l 
ch

ar
ac

te
ris

tic
s. 

C
om

m
en

ts
 ra

ng
ed

 fr
om

 n
ot

 
us

in
g 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
nu

m
be

rs
 to

 
in

cr
ea

si
ng

 th
e 

up
pe

r l
im

it 
to

 
10

,0
00

 o
r a

s h
ig

h 
as

 3
0,

00
0.

 
11

,0
00

 w
as

 m
os

t c
om

m
on

ly
 

m
en

tio
ne

d.

N
ew

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
ru

ra
l 

ch
ar

ac
te

ris
tic

s a
re

 g
eo

gr
ap

hi
c 

re
m

ot
en

es
s a

nd
 is

ol
at

io
n.

 

11
,0

00
 w

as
 th

e 
po

pu
la

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
sm

al
le

st
 c

om
m

un
ity

/a
re

a 
m

en
tio

ne
d 

as
 ru

ra
l i

n 
th

e 
Se

na
te

 re
po

rt 
fo

r 
A

N
IL

C
A

 T
itl

e 
V

II
I. 

 1
1,

00
0 

ha
d 

pr
ev

io
us

ly
 b

ee
n 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
to

 
th

e 
Se

cr
et

ar
ie

s b
y 

th
e 

Fe
de

ra
l 

Su
bs

is
te

nc
e 

B
oa

rd
. T

he
 p

ub
lic

 h
as

 
su

pp
or

te
d 

th
is

 th
re

sh
ol

d 
ch

an
ge

 a
s 

be
tte

r r
ef

le
ct

iv
e 

of
 ru

ra
l. 

G
eo

gr
ap

hi
c 

re
m

ot
en

es
s a

nd
 

is
ol

at
io

n 
ca

pt
ur

es
 ru

ra
l 

ch
ar

ac
te

ris
tic

s t
ha

t m
ig

ht
 o

th
er

w
is

e 
no

t b
e 

ac
co

un
te

d 
fo

r u
si

ng
 o

th
er

 
ch

ar
ac

te
ris

tic
s. 

A
 th

re
sh

ol
d 

of
 1

1,
00

0 
do

es
 n

ot
 a

lle
vi

at
e 

th
e 

an
xi

et
y 

of
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 o

r a
re

as
 a

s 
th

ey
 g

ai
n 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
ov

er
 ti

m
e.

 

Th
e 

us
e 

of
 g

eo
gr

ap
hi

c 
re

m
ot

en
es

s a
nd

 
is

ol
at

io
n 

ad
ds

 to
 th

e 
co

m
pl

ex
ity

 o
f t

he
 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
of

 ru
ra

l c
ha

ra
ct

er
is

tic
s. 

4 
D

ef
in

e 
ru

ra
l a

s 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 o

r 
ar

ea
s w

ith
 

po
pu

la
tio

ns
 le

ss
 

th
an

 1
5,

00
0 

us
in

g 
cu

rr
en

t

In
 g

en
er

al
, w

he
n 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
th

re
sh

ol
ds

 w
er

e 
di

sc
us

se
d,

 th
e 

m
aj

or
ity

 o
f c

om
m

en
te

rs
 

pr
op

os
ed

 a
 n

um
be

r o
f b

et
w

ee
n 

10
,0

00
 a

nd
 3

0,
00

0.
 

H
el

ps
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

ss
ur

an
ce

 th
at

 
gr

ow
in

g 
ru

ra
l h

ub
-c

om
m

un
iti

es
 w

ill
 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 ru
ra

l. 
A

 
si

ng
le

 th
re

sh
ol

d 
si

m
pl

ifi
es

 th
e 

de
te

rm
in

at
io

n 
pr

oc
es

s b
y 

us
in

g 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

an
d 

re
la

tiv
el

y 
ac

cu
ra

te
 

Th
e 

ad
di

tio
n 

of
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
/a

re
as

 to
 th

e 
po

ol
 o

f F
ed

er
al

ly
-q

ua
lif

ie
d 

su
bs

is
te

nc
e 

us
er

s m
ay

 re
su

lt 
in

 in
cr

ea
se

d 
co

m
pe

tit
io

n 
fo

r r
es

ou
rc

es
 a

m
on

g 
th

os
e 

hu
nt

in
g,

 
fis

hi
ng

 o
r t

ra
pp

in
g 

un
de

r F
ed

er
al

 
su

bs
is

te
nc

e 
re

gu
la

tio
ns

. I
f a

ff
ec

te
d 



40 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Briefing Provided to FSB on Review of the Rural Determination Process

19
 

 A
lte

rn
at

iv
e*

 
Sh

or
t S

um
m

ar
y 

R
el

at
io

ns
hi

p 
to

 C
om

m
en

ts
 

Pr
os

 
C

on
s 

ag
gr

eg
at

io
ns

. 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n.
 S

im
ila

rly
 si

ze
d 

an
d 

si
tu

at
ed

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

, s
uc

h 
as

 
K

od
ia

k 
an

d 
K

et
ch

ik
an

, w
ou

ld
 b

e 
ca

te
go

riz
ed

 th
e 

sa
m

e.
 

fis
h/

w
ild

lif
e 

po
pu

la
tio

ns
 c

an
no

t 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
e 

ad
di

tio
na

l r
ur

al
 u

se
rs

, 
lim

ita
tio

ns
 o

n 
su

bs
is

te
nc

e,
 b

as
ed

 u
po

n 
A

N
IL

C
A

 8
04

 c
rit

er
ia

, m
ay

 b
ec

om
e 

ne
ce

ss
ar

y.
 

5 
D

ef
in

e 
ru

ra
l a

s 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 o

r 
ar

ea
s w

ith
 

po
pu

la
tio

ns
 le

ss
 

th
an

 1
5,

00
0 

us
in

g 
cu

rr
en

t
ag

gr
eg

at
io

ns
.

C
ur

re
nt

 ru
ra

l 
de

te
rm

in
at

io
ns

 fo
r 

So
ut

hc
en

tra
l

re
m

ai
n 

in
 fo

rc
e.

 

C
om

m
en

ts
 d

es
cr

ib
ed

 a
 

co
m

m
un

ity
 o

r a
re

a’
s g

eo
gr

ap
hi

c 
re

m
ot

en
es

s a
nd

 is
ol

at
io

n 
as

 
ru

ra
l c

ha
ra

ct
er

is
tic

s. 
R

oa
d 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 w

ith
 

re
la

tiv
el

y 
ea

sy
 a

cc
es

s t
o 

ur
ba

n 
ce

nt
er

s a
re

 v
ie

w
ed

 d
iff

er
en

tly
 

th
an

 th
os

e 
si

m
ila

rly
 si

ze
d 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 in
 re

m
ot

e 
ar

ea
s. 

 

Sa
m

e 
as

 #
4.

  R
ec

og
ni

ze
s t

he
 

de
te

rm
in

at
io

ns
 m

ad
e 

to
 d

at
e 

in
 

So
ut

hc
en

tra
l A

la
sk

a 
th

at
 h

av
e 

un
de

rg
on

e 
co

ns
id

er
ab

le
 re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 
di

sc
us

si
on

. C
om

pe
tit

io
n 

fo
r F

ed
er

al
 

fis
h 

an
d 

w
ild

lif
e 

su
bs

is
te

nc
e 

re
so

ur
ce

s w
ou

ld
 b

e 
un

ch
an

ge
d 

in
 

So
ut

hc
en

tra
l.

Sa
m

e 
as

 #
4.

  U
ne

ve
n 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

of
 

“r
ur

al
” 

ac
ro

ss
 th

e 
St

at
e.

 

6 
Id

en
tif

y 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 

ar
ea

s a
s n

on
-r

ur
al

; 
al

l o
th

er
 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 a
nd

 
ar

ea
s a

re
 th

er
ef

or
e 

ru
ra

l.
D

et
er

m
in

at
io

ns
m

ad
e 

by
 th

e 
Se

cr
et

ar
ie

s o
f t

he
 

In
te

rio
r a

nd
 

A
gr

ic
ul

tu
re

(S
ub

pa
rt 

B
). 

M
an

y 
co

m
m

en
ts

 su
gg

es
te

d 
th

at
 

a 
re

vi
ew

 o
f a

 c
om

m
un

ity
’s

 ru
ra

l 
st

at
us

 sh
ou

ld
 h

ap
pe

n 
on

ly
 if

 
th

er
e 

is
 su

bs
ta

nt
ia

l c
ha

ng
e.

  (
N

o 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
co

m
m

en
ts

 w
er

e 
re

ce
iv

ed
 to

 m
ov

e 
th

e 
de

te
rm

in
at

io
ns

 to
 th

e 
Se

cr
et

ar
ie

s’
 re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y.

) 

Fi
ts

 w
el

l w
ith

 th
e 

no
tio

n 
of

 n
o 

pe
rio

di
c 

re
vi

ew
, s

in
ce

 re
vi

ew
 o

f 
de

te
rm

in
at

io
ns

 w
ou

ld
 o

cc
ur

 
in

fr
eq

ue
nt

ly
 a

nd
 o

nl
y 

w
he

n 
de

em
ed

 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

by
 th

e 
Se

cr
et

ar
ie

s. 

R
ed

uc
es

 fl
ex

ib
ili

ty
 to

 m
od

ify
 b

ou
nd

ar
ie

s 
as

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 o
r a

re
as

 c
ha

ng
e.

  
D

ec
is

io
ns

 a
re

 m
ad

e 
in

 D
C

, r
at

he
r t

ha
n 

lo
ca

lly
. C

ou
ld

 b
e 

vi
ew

ed
 a

s a
 le

ss
 o

pe
n 

an
d 

tra
ns

pa
re

nt
 p

ro
ce

ss
. 

*A
ll 

al
te

rn
at

iv
es

 e
xc

ep
t 1

 w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

no
 p

er
io

di
c 

re
vi

ew
; r

ev
ie

w
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

by
 p

et
iti

on
. (

Se
e 

A
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

2 
fo

r p
ro

s a
nd

 c
on

s, 
w

hi
ch

 w
ou

ld
 a

ls
o 

ap
pl

y 
to

 
A

lte
rn

at
iv

es
 3

-6
). 



41Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FRMP Briefing

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program

The mission of the Monitoring Program is to identify and provide 
information needed to sustain subsistence fisheries on Federal public 
lands, for rural Alaskans… 

Overview
The Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program (Monitoring Program) is unique to Alaska. 
It was established in 1999 under Title VIII of ANILCA and is run by the Office of 
Subsistence Management. The Monitoring Program is a competitive funding source for 
studies on subsistence fisheries that are intended to expand the understanding of 
subsistence harvest (Harvest Monitoring), traditional knowledge of subsistence resources 
(Traditional Ecological Knowledge), and the populations of subsistence fish resources 
(Stock Status and Trends). Gathering this information improves the ability to manage 
subsistence fisheries in a way that will ensure the continued opportunity for sustainable 
subsistence use by rural Alaskans on Federal public lands.  

Funding Regions
Funding for the Monitoring Program is separated into six regions: the Northern Region,
which includes the North Slope, Northwest Arctic, and Seward Peninsula Regional 
Advisory Councils; the Yukon Region includes the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta, Western 
Interior, and Eastern Interior Regional Councils; the Kuskokwim Region includes the 
Western Interior and Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Regional Advisory Councils; the 
Southwest Region includes the Bristol Bay and Kodiak/Aleutians Regional Advisory 
Councils; the Southcentral Region includes the Southcentral Regional Advisory Council; 
and, the Southeast Region includes the Southeast Regional Advisory Council.  

Table 1. Regional Advisory Councils represented within each of the six Funding 
Regions for the Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program. 

Funding Region Regional Advisory Councils
1. Northern North Slope, Northwest Arctic, and Seward 

Peninsula

2. Yukon Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta, Western Interior, 
and Eastern Interior 

3. Kuskokwim Western Interior and Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta

4. Southwest Bristol Bay and Kodiak/Aleutians

5. Southcentral Southcentral

6. Southeast Southeast



42 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FRMP Briefing

Subsistence Resource Concerns
For each of the six funding regions Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils and 
other stakeholders have identified subsistence fishery resource concerns (Priority 
Information Needs). These are used by the Monitoring Program to request project 
proposals that will provide managers with the information needed to address those 
resource concerns. 

In the coming year there will be at least two opportunities for Regional Advisory 
Councils and other stakeholders to discuss subsistence fishery resource concerns for their 
Monitoring Program funding regions. These discussions will occur at each of the winter 
and fall 2014 Regional Advisory Councils meetings. Resource concerns identified during 
these discussions will be used to direct the request for proposals for studies on 
subsistence fisheries during the 2016 funding cycle.  

Funding Cycles
Every two years the Monitoring Program requests proposals for studies on subsistence 
issues such as subsistence harvest (Harvest Monitoring), traditional knowledge of 
subsistence resources (Traditional Ecological Knowledge), and the populations of 
subsistence fish resources (Stock Status and Trends). The most recent funding cycle for 
the Monitoring Program occurred in 2014. The request for proposals was announced in 
spring of 2013 and funding decisions were made in winter of 2014. Projects selected to 
receive funding in 2014 will last from one to four years depending on the duration of the 
proposed study. The next funding cycle will begin with a request for proposals in fall of 
2014 and funding decisions (Monitoring Plan) announced in early 2016. 

Funding Recommendations
Project proposals received by the Office of Subsistence Management are summarized by 
staff biologists and social scientists in preparation for a Technical Review Committee.
The Technical Review Committee made up of members of five Federal Agencies and 
three representatives from Alaska Department of Fish and Game. This committee reviews 
and then makes recommendations on whether the project is appropriate to receive 
funding (Fund), needs some modifications in order to be recommended for funding (Fund 
with Modification), or is not an appropriate proposal to receive funding from the 
Monitoring Program (Do Not Fund). Funding recommendations made by the Technical 
Review Committee are based on how well the project would meet Strategic Priorities for 
the region, whether the project has sound Technical-Scientific Merit, the Ability and 
Resources of the researchers, and, how well the project would support Partnership-
Capacity building for future projects in the region. The Technical Review Committee’s 
funding recommendation is called the Draft Monitoring Plan.  

During the fall Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meetings the Draft 
Monitoring Plan is reviewed by Regional Advisory Council members and a ranking of 
projects within the funding region is made for projects proposed within each of the six 
funding regions. 



43Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FRMP Briefing

Following the fall Regional Advisory Council meetings and prior to the Federal Board 
Meeting, a second ranking of projects for the Draft Monitoring Plan is made by an 
Interagency Staff Committee consisting of members of each of the five federal agencies 
involved in subsistence management in Alaska. 

The final funding recommendation is made during the Federal Subsistence Board 
Meeting when the Board reviews the draft Monitoring Plan and subsequent ranking 
recommendations made by the Regional Advisory Councils, and Interagency Staff 
Committee. The funding recommendation made by the Federal Subsistence Board is 
considered to be the final Monitoring Plan for the funding cycle. This Monitoring Plan is 
then approved by the Assistant Regional Director of the Office of Subsistence 
Management and funds are awarded to each of the projects recommended for funding in 
the final Monitoring Plan.



44 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



45Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



46 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



47Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



48 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



49Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



50 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



51Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



52 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Priority Information Needs for FRMP



53Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-01 (defining fishing hook as with or without barb)

George Pappas, (907) 786-3822 July 17, 2014 
RAC Review 

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS 
FP15-01 

 
ISSUES 

 
Proposal FP15-01 submitted by the Southcentral Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 
(SCRAC) requests that the definition of “hook” be described in regulation as “a hook with or without a 
barb.” 
 
The proposed language would clarify the type of fishing hook that could be used under Federal 
subsistence fisheries regulations where hooks are an authorized methods and means to take fish.  
 
DISCUSSION 

The proponent requests a change to existing statewide Federal regulatory language to eliminate the 
potential for adoption of default methods and means restriction of a Federal subsistence fishery to the use 
of barbless hooks.  This proposal was submitted in response to a recent Alaska Board of Fisheries 
decision (see regulatory history section) to restrict the Kenai River Chinook salmon sport fishery methods 
and means to the use of barbless hooks under certain conditions.  If the Kenai River Chinook salmon 
sport fishery is restricted to the use of barbless hooks, the Federal subsistence rod and reel fishery might 
also be restricted to the use of barbless hooks by default.   
 
In many parts of Alaska, stand-alone Federal subsistence fisheries regulations do not exist within §___.25 
or .27.  Federal subsistence fisheries methods and means regulations are the same for taking of fish under 
State of Alaska sport fishing regulations (5 AAC 56 and 5 AAC 57), unless specifically modified in 
Federal regulation.  In those areas where Federal subsistence fisheries regulations are absent, §___.14(a) 
indicates State fisheries regulations apply to public lands and are adopted as Federal subsistence fisheries 
regulations to the extent they are not inconsistent with, or superseded by, Federal subsistence regulations.  
In other words, if the State of Alaska adopts fisheries regulations, such as requiring barbless hooks in a 
fishery where Federal subsistence fisheries regulations do not exist or do not address what type of hook is 
allowed, Federal subsistence regulations would default to State regulations resulting in Federal 
subsistence users being restricted to barbless hooks. 
 
Existing Federal Regulations 

§___100.14 and §___242.14 Relationship to State procedures and regulations 

(a) State fish and game regulations apply to public lands and such laws are hereby adopted and 
made a part of the regulations in this part to the extent they are not inconsistent with, or superseded 
by, the regulations in this part.  

Currently there is no Federal definition of “hook”; thus, the State of Alaska definition for the Kenai River 
applies.  



54 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-01 (defining fishing hook as with or without barb)

George Pappas(907) 786-3822 May 30, 2014 
Team Field Review 
 

2 

Proposed Federal Subsistence Regulations 

§__.25 (a) Definitions. The following definitions apply to all regulations contained in this part: 

Hook means a single shanked fish hook with a single eye constructed with 1 or more points 
with or without barbs. 

Existing State Regulation 

5 AAC 57.121. Special provisions for the seasons, bag, possession, and size limits, and methods and 
means for the Lower Section of the Kenai River Drainage Area 

(1)(J) during times when the retention of king salmon is prohibited under 5 AAC 57.160(d) (2)(A) 
or 5 AAC 21.359(e)(1), only one unbaited, barbless, single-hook, artificial lure may be used when 
sport fishing for king salmon; in this subparagraph, "barbless" means the hook is manufactured 
without a barb or the barb has been completely removed or compressed so the barb is in 
complete contact with the shaft of the hook; 

5AAC 21.359. Kenai River Late-Run King Salmon Management Plan 

(e) From July 1 through July 31, if the projected inriver run of late-run king salmon is less than 
22,500 fish, in order to achieve the sustainable escapement goal and provide reasonable harvest 
opportunity, the commissioner may, by emergency order, establish fishing seasons as follows: 

(1) in the Kenai River sport fishery, 

(A) the use of bait is prohibited; or 

(B) the use of bait and retention of king salmon are prohibited, and only 
one unbaited, barbless, single-hook, artificial lure, as described in 5 
AAC57.121(1)(J), may be used when sport fishing for king salmon; 

Extent of Federal Public Waters 

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3.  FP15-01 was submitted to address Federal subsistence fisheries 
in all Federal public waters of Alaska.  

Regulatory History  

Over the years, numerous proposals requesting restriction of sport fisheries methods and means to 
barbless hooks have been submitted to the Alaska Board of Fisheries.  At the January 29 – February 11, 
2014 Upper Cook Inlet meeting, the Alaska Board of Fisheries deliberated Proposals 47, 48, 49, and 224 
which requested restricting various Cook Inlet spot fisheries to the use of barbless hooks (ADF&G 2013 
A, pages 280-286, ADF&G 2013 B, page 144).  The Alaska Department of Fish and Game opposed these 
proposals because restricting anglers to the use of barbless hooks would have a negative effect on sport 
fishery opportunity without a measureable biological benefit.  The Alaska Department of Fish and Game 



55Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-01 (defining fishing hook as with or without barb)

George Pappas(907) 786-3822 May 30, 2014 
Team Field Review 
 

3 

also indicated use of barbless hooks reduces angler efficiency by 9-24%, according to one study, resulting 
in anglers fishing longer in order to achieve their bag limits, or reducing their harvest. 

The Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted an amended Proposal 48 for the Kenai River Chinook salmon 
sport fishery requiring barbless hooks as a conservation measure when the fishery is restricted to catch 
and release only.  The discussions during the Alaska Board of Fisheries deliberations focused on reducing 
Chinook salmon handling mortality in the sport fishery when restricted to catch and release status.  The 
regulatory language defining “barbless hooks” within 5 AAC 57.121(1)(J) is the hook is manufactured 
without a barb or the barb has been completely removed or compressed so the barb is in complete 
contact with the shaft of the hook.  

The Kenai River Chinook salmon sport fishery is the first fishery in Alaska with a barbless hook 
regulation.  At their March 12, 2014 meeting, the SCRAC was made aware of the new State sport fishery 
regulation and how it could, by default, impact the Federal subsistence Chinook salmon rod and reel 
fishery in the Kenai River.  In response to the Alaska Board of Fisheries action, the SCRAC submitted 
this proposal.  The State of Alaska regulatory definition of a “barbless hook” was not available at the 
SCRAC meeting and the SCRAC was not presented with the language contained in the Proposed Federal 
Regulatory Language section above.   

Biological Background 

The previously referenced Alaska Department of Fish and Game staff comments to the Alaska Board of 
Fishery state the use of barbless hooks does not reduce mortality of released fish by a measurable amount.  
These staff comments generally indicate the vast body of research conducted on catch and release 
mortality of fish largely suggest there is no significant difference in mortality rates between using barbed 
and barbless hooks (ADF&G 2013 A page 281), though some studies support the use of barbless hooks 
for specific species in some fisheries.   

Current Events 

Many Federal subsistence fisheries in Alaska allow the use of fishing hooks as a legal means of 
harvesting fish.  Current Federal subsistence fisheries regulations reference allowing the use of a hook 
with a handline, jigging gear, long line, mechanical jigging gear, troll gear, hook and line attached to a 
rod or pole, and rod and reel.  Though the use of fishing hooks is authorized, Federal subsistence 
regulations do not define a fishing hook and do not clearly indicate whether or not fishing hooks require a 
barb or not.   

The SCRAC indicated adoption of this proposal, if submitted as a statewide proposal, could benefit 
Federally-qualified subsistence users throughout Alaska.  Allowing the continued use of barbed hooks in 
all Federal subsistence fisheries, where use of hooks is authorized, will benefit subsistence users by 
reducing the chance of losing a fish hooked on a barbless hook as subsistence fishing is characterized by 
efficiency of harvest.  Additionally, the SCRAC transcripts state the purpose of this proposal is to legally 
maintain Federal subsistence fishermen’s choice if they want to use a barbed or a barbless hook (SCRAC 
2014).  

 



56 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-01 (defining fishing hook as with or without barb)

George Pappas(907) 786-3822 May 30, 2014 
Team Field Review 
 

4 

Other Alternates Considered 

The State of Alaska has adopted a Kenai River Chinook salmon sport fishery relate regulations which 
define a “barbless hook” under 5 AAC 57.121(1)(J)… "barbless" means the hook is manufactured 
without a barb or the barb has been completely removed or compressed so the barb is in complete 
contact with the shaft of the hook;.  Regulatory language defining a “barbless hook” was not available for 
evaluation at the SCRAC meeting when FP15-01 was submitted.  An alternative to consider for Proposal 
FP15-01 is to support the proposal with modification by incorporating the regulatory language offered in 
this proposal with the regulatory language adopted by the State of Alaska.  Supporting Proposal FP15-01 
with the modification of mirroring the State of Alaska’s statewide definition of a barbless hook will 
reduce regulatory complexity and enforcement concerns.  The following is alternative proposed 
regulatory language reflecting the above suggested modification.  

 §__.25 (a) Definitions. The following definitions apply to all regulations contained in this 
part: 

Hook means a single shanked fish hook with a single eye constructed with 1 or more points 
with or without barbs.  A hook without a “barb” means the hook is manufactured without a 
barb or the barb has been completely removed or compressed so the barb is in complete 
contact with the shaft of the hook  

Effects of the Proposal 

If this proposal is adopted, it would maintain Federally-qualified subsistence users’ ability to select the 
type of fishing hooks, with or without barbs, they want to use.  Once a definition of hook is in Federal 
regulation, Federally-qualified subsistence users will not have to be concerned if the State of Alaska 
changes the definition of a hook or restricts other fisheries to the use of barbless hooks.  Adoption of this 
proposal is not expected to have any effect on Federally-qualified subsistence users, practices, fisheries, 
or fish stocks targeted.  Adoption of this proposal will not change the impacts Federal subsistence users 
have on Alaska’s fishery resources because Federal subsistence users most likely utilize barbed hooks 
where hooks are authorized to increase harvest efficiency because subsistence fishing is characterized by 
efficiency of harvest.   

If this proposal is adopted, Federal and State regulations will be divergent in fisheries restricted to use of 
barbless hooks under State regulations.  Adoption of FP15-01 will establish a Federal subsistence 
regulatory definition of hook to include both barbed and barbless hooks which will supersede both current 
and future State barbless hooks regulations.   

If this proposal is not adopted, Federally-qualified users will be restricted to use the type of hook 
specified and defined by the State of Alaska, since there is no Federal definition of hook.  The first, and 
currently only, Federal subsistence fishery which could be impacted by not adopting FP15-01 is the Kenai 
River Chinook salmon fishery, where rod and reel is an authorized methods and means.  Additionally, if 
this proposal is not adopted, potential barbless hooks restrictions in other future Federal subsistence 
fisheries would unnecessarily decrease harvest efficiency of Federally-qualified subsistence users.  



57Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-01 (defining fishing hook as with or without barb)

George Pappas(907) 786-3822 May 30, 2014 
Team Field Review 
 

5 

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION 

Support Proposal FP15-01   

Justification 

The proposal would add a definition of “hook” in Federal regulations.  Currently subsistence users must 
comply with the State’s method and means when fishing with one or more hooks, even if the regulation is 
for barbless hooks, which reduces harvest efficiency.  Restricting subsistence users from harvesting fish 
with barbed hooks would be an unnecessary restriction to existing fishing practices statewide.  

Adoption of this proposal would protect Federal subsistence fishermen’s choice to use barbed or barbless 
hooks.  Adoption of this proposal would not result in impacts to Alaska’s fisheries resources by Federal 
subsistence fishermen.  

 

LITERATURE CITED  

SCRAC, 2014. Transcripts of the Southcentral Regional Advisory Council proceedings pages 68-72, March 12, 
2014 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.  
 
ADF&G, 2013 A. Alaska Department of Fish and Game staff comments on commercial, personal use, sport, guided 
sport, and subsistence finfish regulatory proposals, committee of the whole-groups 1-6 for the Upper Cook Inlet 
Management Area, Alaska Board of Fisheries meeting Anchorage, Alaska, January 31-Feburary 12, 2014.  Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game, Regional Information Report No. 2A13-04, Anchorage.  
 
ADF&G, 2013 B. Alaska Department of Fish and Game staff comments on commercial, personal use, sport, guided 
sport, and subsistence finfish regulatory proposals, Committees D, E, F, G for the Upper Cook Inlet Management 
Area, Alaska Board of Fisheries meeting Anchorage, Alaska, January 31-Feburary 12, 2014.  Alaska Department of 
Fish and Game, Regional Information Report No. 2A13-05, Anchorage.  
 



58 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



59Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



60 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



61Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



62 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



63Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



64 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



65Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



66 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



67Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



68 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-02 (providing two 48-hour fishing periods in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



69Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



70 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



71Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



72 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



73Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



74 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



75Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



76 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



77Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



78 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



79Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



80 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



81Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 (eliminating drift gillnet for Chinook salmon in Yukon River Subdistrict 5C)



82 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 Appendix A



83Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 Appendix A



84 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 Appendix A



85Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 Appendix A



86 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 Appendix A



87Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 Appendix A



88 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-03 Appendix A



89Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



90 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



91Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



92 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



93Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



94 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



95Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



96 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



97Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



98 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



99Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



100 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



101Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FP15-04 (allowing Federal subsistence users to use set-gillnets to harvest salmon in the Yukon River drainage when 
drift-gillnet salmon fisheries are closed)



102 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Briefing



103Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Briefing



104 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

RAC Nominations Briefing



105Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

RAC Nominations Briefing



106 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

RAC Nominations Briefing



107Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

RAC Nominations Briefing



108 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

RAC Nominations Briefing



109Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

RAC Nominations Briefing



110 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

WIRAC Letters on Late Appointments



111Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

WIRAC Letters on Late Appointments



112 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

WIRAC Letters on Late Appointments



113Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

WIRAC Letters on Late Appointments



114 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

WIRAC Letters on Late Appointments



115Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

WIRAC Letters on Late Appointments



116 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Meeting Calendars



117Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Meeting Calendars



118 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Seward Peninsula Council Charter



119Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Seward Peninsula Council Charter



120 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Seward Peninsula Council Charter



121Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Seward Peninsula Council Charter



122 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Notes



123Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Notes



124 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Notes


